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            Foreword 

The purpose and objective of the Guide is to provide the students with basic 

knowledge about methodologies, methods and practice of internationa1 financial 

management and corporate finance as a part of training for their professional scientific 

career. International financial management and corporate finance business are 

considered within the framework of business in general. The different aspects of theory 

are discussed in view of business practice. Different fonts are used to mobilize attention 

of the readers.Detailed table of contents can be used as a Subject Index and self 

control questions tool. 

 

Topic 1. International financial management: content and system. 

 

Business concern needs finance to meet their requirements in the economic 

world. Any kind of business activity depends on the finance. Hence, it is called as 

lifeblood of business organization. Whether the business concerns are big or small, they 

need finance to fulfil their business activities. 

In the modern world, all the activities are concerned with the economic activities 

and very particular to earning profit through any venture or activities. The entire 

business activities are directly related with making profit. (According to the economics 

concept of factors of production, rent given to landlord, wage given to labour, interest 

given to capital 

and profit given to shareholders or proprietors), a business concern needs 

finance to meet 

all the requirements. Hence finance may be called as capital, investment, fund 

etc., but 

each term is having different meanings and unique characters. Increasing the 

profit is the 

main aim of any kind of economic activity. 
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MEANING OF FINANCE 

Finance may be defined as the art and science of managing money. It includes 

financial service and financial instruments. Finance also is referred as the provision of 

money at the time when it is needed. Finance function is the procurement of funds and 

their effective utilization in business concerns. 

The concept of finance includes capital, funds, money, and amount. But each 

word is having unique meaning. Studying and understanding the concept of finance 

become an important part of the business concern. 

DEFINITION OF FINANCE 

According to Khan and Jain, “Finance is the art and science of managing 

money”. 

2 Financial Management 

According to Oxford dictionary, the word ‘finance’ connotes ‘management of 

money’. 

Webster’s Ninth New Collegiate Dictionary defines finance as “the Science on 

study of the management of funds’ and the management of fund as the system that 

includes the circulation of money, the granting of credit, the making of investments, and 

the provision of banking facilities. 

DEFINITION OF BUSINESS FINANCE 

According to the Wheeler, “Business finance is that business activity which 

concerns with the acquisition and conversation of capital funds in meeting financial 

needs and overall objectives of a business enterprise”. 

According to the Guthumann and Dougall, “Business finance can broadly be 

defined as the activity concerned with planning, raising, controlling, administering of the 

funds used in the business”. 

In the words of Parhter and Wert, “Business finance deals primarily with raising, 

administering and disbursing funds by privately owned business units operating in 

nonfinancial fields of industry”. 

Corporate finance is concerned with budgeting, financial forecasting, cash 

management, credit administration, investment analysis and fund procurement of 

the business concern and the business concern needs to adopt modern technology and 

application suitable to the global environment. 

According to the Encyclopedia of Social Sciences, “Corporation finance deals 

with the financial problems of corporate enterprises. These problems include the 

financial aspects of the promotion of new enterprises and their administration during 
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early development, the accounting problems connected with the distinction between 

capital and income, the administrative questions created by growth and expansion, and 

finally, the financial adjustments required for the bolstering up or rehabilitation of a 

corporation which has come into financial difficulties”. 

 

TYPES OF FINANCE 

Finance is one of the important and integral part of business concerns, hence, it 

plays a major role in every part of the business activities. It is used in all the area of the 

activities under the different names. 

Finance can be classified into two major parts: 

  

Fig. 1.1 Types of Finance 

 

Private Finance, which includes the Individual, Firms, Business or Corporate 

Financial activities to meet the requirements. 

Public Finance which concerns with revenue and disbursement of Government 

such as Central Government, State Government and Semi-Government Financial 

matters. 

 

DEFINITION OF FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 

Financial management is an integral part of overall management. It is concerned 

with the duties of the financial managers in the business firm. 

The term financial management has been defined by Solomon, “It is concerned 

with the efficient use of an important economic resource namely, capital funds”. 
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The most popular and acceptable definition of financial management as given by 

S.C. Kuchal is that “Financial Management deals with procurement of funds and their 

effective utilization in the business”. 

Howard and Upton : Financial management “as an application of general 

managerial principles to the area of financial decision-making. 

Weston and Brigham : Financial management “is an area of financial decision-

making, harmonizing individual motives and enterprise goals”. 

Joshep and Massie : Financial management “is the operational activity of a 

business that is responsible for obtaining and effectively utilizing the funds necessary 

for efficient operations. 

Thus, Financial Management is mainly concerned with the effective funds 

management in the business. In simple words, Financial Management as 

practiced by business firms can be called as Corporation Finance or Business Finance. 

 

SCOPE OF FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 

Financial management is one of the important parts of overall management, 

which is directly related with various functional departments like personnel, marketing 

and production. 

Financial management covers wide area with multidimensional approaches. The 

following are the important scope of financial management. 

1. Financial Management and Economics 

Economic concepts like micro and macroeconomics are directly applied with the 

financial management approaches. Investment decisions, micro and macro 

environmental factors are closely associated with the functions of financial 

manager. 

Financial management also uses the economic equations like money value 

discount factor, economic order quantity etc. Financial economics is one of the 

emerging area, which provides immense opportunities to finance, and economical 

areas. 

2. Financial Management and Accounting 

Accounting records includes the financial information of the business concern. 

Hence, we can easily understand the relationship between the financial 

management and accounting. In the olden periods, both financial management and 

accounting are treated as a same discipline and then it has been merged as 
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Management Accounting because this part is very much helpful to finance manager to 

take decisions. But nowaday’s financial management and accounting discipline are 

separate and interrelated. 

3. Financial Management or Mathematics 

Modern approaches of the financial management applied large number of 

mathematical and statistical tools and techniques. They are also called as 

econometrics. Economic order quantity, discount factor, time value of money, present 

value of money, cost of capital, capital structure theories, dividend theories, ratio 

analysis and working capital analysis are used as mathematical and statistical tools and 

techniques in the field of financial management. 

4. Financial Management and Production Management 

Production management is the operational part of the business concern, which 

helps to multiple the money into profit. Profit of the concern depends upon the 

production performance. Production performance needs finance, because production 

department requires raw material, machinery, wages, operating expenses etc. These 

expenditures are decided and estimated by the financial department and the finance 

manager allocates the appropriate finance to production department. The financial 

manager must be aware of the operational process and finance required for each 

process of production activities. 

5. Financial Management and Marketing 

Produced goods are sold in the market with innovative and modern approaches. 

For this, the marketing department needs finance to meet their requirements. 

Introduction to Financial Management The financial manager or finance department is 

responsible to allocate the adequate finance to the marketing department. Hence, 

marketing and financial management are interrelated and depends on each other. 

6. Financial Management and Human Resource Financial management is also 

related with human resource department, which provides manpower to all the functional 

areas of the management. Financial manager should carefully evaluate the requirement 

of manpower to each department and allocate the finance to the human resource 

department as wages, salary, remuneration, commission, bonus, pension and other 

monetary benefits to the human resource department. Hence, financial management is 

directly related with human resource management. 

 

OBJECTIVES OF FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 
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Effective procurement and efficient use of finance lead to proper utilization of the 

finance by the business concern. It is the essential part of the financial manager. Hence, 

the financial manager must determine the basic objectives of the financial management. 

Objectives of Financial Management may be broadly divided into two parts such as: 

1. Profit maximization 

2. Wealth maximization. 

  

Profit Maximization 

Main aim of any kind of economic activity is earning profit. A business concern is 

also functioning mainly for the purpose of earning profit. Profit is the measuring 

techniques to understand the business efficiency of the concern. Profit maximization is 

also the traditional and narrow approach, which aims at, maximizes the profit of the 

concern. Profit maximization consists of the following important features. 

1. Profit maximization is also called as cashing per share maximization. It leads 

to maximize the business operation for profit maximization. 

2. Ultimate aim of the business concern is earning profit, hence, it considers all 

the possible ways to increase the profitability of the concern. 

3. Profit is the parameter of measuring the efficiency of the business concern. So 

it shows the entire position of the business concern. 

4. Profit maximization objectives help to reduce the risk of the business. 

 

Favourable Arguments for Profit Maximization 

The following important points are in support of the profit maximization objectives 

of the business concern: 

(i) Main aim is earning profit. 

(ii) Profit is the parameter of the business operation. 

(iii) Profit reduces risk of the business concern. 

(iv) Profit is the main source of finance. 

(v) Profitability meets the social needs also. 
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Unfavourable Arguments for Profit Maximization 

The following important points are against the objectives of profit maximization: 

(i) Profit maximization leads to exploiting workers and consumers. 

(ii) Profit maximization creates immoral practices such as corrupt practice, unfair 

trade practice, etc. 

(iii) Profit maximization objectives leads to inequalities among the stake holders 

such as customers, suppliers, public shareholders, etc. 

Drawbacks of Profit Maximization 

Profit maximization objective consists of certain drawback also: 

(i) It is vague: In this objective, profit is not defined precisely or correctly. It 

creates some unnecessary opinion regarding earning habits of the business concern. 

(ii) It ignores the time value of money: Profit maximization does not consider 

the time value of money or the net present value of the cash inflow. It leads certain 

differences between the actual cash inflow and net present cash flow during a particular 

period. 

(iii) It ignores risk: Profit maximization does not consider risk of the business 

concern. Risks may be internal or external which will affect the overall operation of the 

business concern. 

 

Wealth Maximization 

Wealth maximization is one of the modern approaches, which involves latest 

innovations and improvements in the field of the business concern. The term wealth 

means shareholder wealth or the wealth of the persons those who are involved in the 

business concern. 

Wealth maximization is also known as value maximization or net present worth 

maximization. This objective is an universally accepted concept in the field of business. 

Favourable Arguments for Wealth Maximization 

(i) Wealth maximization is superior to the profit maximization because the main 

aim of the business concern under this concept is to improve the value or wealth of the 

shareholders. 

(ii) Wealth maximization considers the comparison of the value to cost associated 

with the business concern. Total value detected from the total cost incurred for the 

business operation. It provides extract value of the business concern. 

(iii) Wealth maximization considers both time and risk of the business concern. 

(iv) Wealth maximization provides efficient allocation of resources. 
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(v) It ensures the economic interest of the society. 

Unfavourable Arguments for Wealth Maximization 

(i) Wealth maximization leads to prescriptive idea of the business concern but it 

may not be suitable to present day business activities. 

(ii) Wealth maximization is nothing, it is also profit maximization, it is the indirect 

name of the profit maximization. 

(iii) Wealth maximization creates ownership-management controversy. 

(iv) Management alone enjoy certain benefits. 

(v) The ultimate aim of the wealth maximization objectives is to maximize the 

profit. 

(vi) Wealth maximization can be activated only with the help of the profitable 

position of the business concern. 

 

APPROACHES TO FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 

Financial management approach measures the scope of the financial 

management in various fields, which include the essential part of the finance. Financial 

management is not a revolutionary concept but an evolutionary. The definition and 

scope of financial management has been changed from one period to another period 

and applied various innovations. Theoretical points of view, financial management 

approach may be broadly divided into two major parts - Traditional Approach  and 

Modern Approach 

 

Traditional Approach 

Traditional approach is the initial stage of financial management, which was 

followed, in the early part of during the year 1920 to 1950. This approach is based on 

the past experience and the traditionally accepted methods. Main part of the traditional 

approach is rising of funds for the business concern. Traditional approach consists of 

the following important areas. 

Arrangement of funds from lending body. Arrangement of funds through various 

financial instruments. Finding out the various sources of funds. 

 

FUNCTIONS OF FINANCE MANAGER 

Finance function is one of the major parts of business organization, which 

involves the permanent, and continuous process of the business concern. Finance is 

one of the interrelated functions which deal with personal function, marketing function, 
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production function and research and development activities of the business concern. At 

present, every business concern concentrates more on the field of finance because, it is 

a very emerging part which reflects the entire operational and profit ability position of the 

concern. Deciding the proper financial function is the essential and ultimate goal of the 

business organization. 

Finance manager is one of the important role players in the field of finance 

function. He must have entire knowledge in the area of accounting, finance, economics 

and management. His position is highly critical and analytical to solve various problems 

related to finance. A person who deals finance related activities may be called finance 

manager. 

Finance manager performs the following major functions: 

1. Forecasting Financial Requirements 

It is the primary function of the Finance Manager. He is responsible to estimate 

the financial requirement of the business concern. He should estimate, how much 

finances required to acquire fixed assets and forecast the amount needed to meet the 

working capital requirements in future. 

2. Acquiring Necessary Capital 

After deciding the financial requirement, the finance manager should concentrate 

how the finance is mobilized and where it will be available. It is also highly critical in 

nature. 

3. Investment Decision 

The finance manager must carefully select best investment alternatives and 

consider the reasonable and stable return from the investment. He must be well versed 

in the field of capital budgeting techniques to determine the effective utilization of 

investment. The finance manager must concentrate to principles of safety, liquidity and 

profitability while investing capital. 

4. Cash Management 

Present days cash management plays a major role in the area of finance 

because proper cash management is not only essential for effective utilization of cash 

but it also helps to meet the short-term liquidity position of the concern. 

5. Interrelation with Other Departments 

Finance manager deals with various functional departments such as marketing, 

production, personnel, system, research, development, etc. Finance manager should 

have sound knowledge not only in finance related area but also well versed in other 
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areas. He must maintain a good relationship with all the functional departments of the 

business organization. 

  

Fig 1.4 Functions of Financial Manager 

IMPORTANCE OF FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 

Finance is the lifeblood of business organization. It needs to meet the 

requirement of the business concern. Each and every business concern must maintain 

adequate amount of finance for their smooth running of the business concern and also 

maintain the business carefully to achieve the goal of the business concern. The 

business goal can be achieved only with the help of effective management of finance. 

We can’t neglect the importance of finance at any time at and at any situation. Some of 

the importance of the financial management is as follows: 

Financial Planning 

Financial management helps to determine the financial requirement of the 

business concern and leads to take financial planning of the concern. Financial planning 

is an important part of the business concern, which helps to promotion of an enterprise. 

Acquisition of Funds 

Financial management involves the acquisition of required finance to the 

business concern. 

Acquiring needed funds play a major part of the financial management, which 

involve possible source of finance at minimum cost. 

Proper Use of Funds 

Proper use and allocation of funds leads to improve the operational efficiency of 

the business concern. When the finance manager uses the funds properly, they can 

reduce the cost of capital and increase the value of the firm. 

Financial Decision 

Financial management helps to take sound financial decision in the business 

concern. 
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Financial decision will affect the entire business operation of the concern 

because there is a direct relationship with various department functions such as 

marketing, production personnel, etc. 

company purely depends on the effectiveness and proper utilization of funds by 

the company. Financial management helps to improve the profitability position of the 

company with the help of strong financial control devices such as budgetary control, 

ratio analysis and cost volume profit analysis. 

Increase the Value of the Firm 

Financial management is very important in the field of increasing the wealth of 

the investors and the company. Ultimate aim of any company will achieve the 

maximum profit and higher profitability leads to maximize the wealth of the investors as 

well as the nation. 

Promoting Savings 

Savings are possible only when the company earns higher profitability and 

maximizing wealth. Effective financial management helps to promoting and mobilizing 

individual and corporate savings. 

Nowadays financial management is also popularly known as business finance or 

corporate finances. The company or corporate sectors cannot function without the 

importance of the financial management. 

International financial management is to provide 
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So, what’s about international financial management? 
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 Why do firms become multinational 

The Reasons a Business Might Become Multinational 

A multinational company can produce different parts of their business in other 

places to maximize profits and efficiency. Outsourcing: Many businesses can cut costs 

when outsourcing tasks or services internationally. 

What Makes a Corporation Multinational? 

A multinational corporation is one that has business offices and operations in two 

or more countries in the world. These companies are often managed from a central 

office headquartered in the home country. Simply exporting goods for sale abroad does 

not make a business a multinational company. 

 

6 REASONS WHY A BUSINESS MIGHT WANT TO BECOME 

MULTINATIONAL 

At some point, many businesses face the decision on whether or not to become 

multinational. A multinational business has certain advantages that others might not, 

including locating different parts of the supply chain in different countries and 

specializing parts of the production process in different areas of the world. What are 

some of the reasons why a business might want to become multinational? 

THE REASONS A BUSINESS MIGHT BECOME MULTINATIONAL 

1. Specialized Production: Many industries are located in different parts of 

the world. For example, the components of an iPhone don’t just come from one factory 

in one country. Instead, they use pieces from different branches of the tech industry and 

https://mksh.com/6-reasons-why-a-business-might-want-to-become-multinational/
https://mksh.com/6-reasons-why-a-business-might-want-to-become-multinational/
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different parts of the world. A multinational company can produce different parts of their 

business in other places to maximize profits and efficiency. 

2. Outsourcing: Many businesses can cut costs when outsourcing tasks or 

services internationally. A high-labor cost country moving some of the more labor-

intensive parts of the process to countries with a lower cost for labor can save a great 

deal on their typical production costs. 

3. Scale for Savings: Depending on what industry you want to become 

multinational in, you might face high fixed costs when getting started. Businesses that 

can grow quickly will experience more cost savings thanks to greater efficiency and the 

lower cost per item or unit that comes with producing at scale. 

4. Different Taxes: Another common reason why a business will become 

multinational is to take advantage of countries that offer lower corporate tax rates. Make 

sure that you work with an experienced tax planning team to ensure that you 

understand how your tax obligation will change and any potential ramifications as a 

result. 

5. Skilled Labor: When you become multinational, you can access the broad 

and deep talent pool that the globe has to offer and reap the rewards. 

6. More Consumers: Just like you can access a larger talent pool, you can 

also access a larger customer base. Selling abroad gives you a new audience excited 

about your products, and it might even open up new avenues that wouldn’t be possible 

in your own country. 

What are 5 reasons to become a multinational company? 

Reasons for Being a Multinational Corporation 

 Access to lower production costs. Setting up production in other countries, 

especially in developing economies, usually translates to spending significantly less on 

production costs. ... 

 Proximity to target international markets. ... 

 Access to a larger talent pool. ... 

 Avoidance of tariffs. 

 Why Would a Business Want to Become a Multinational Company?  

 Usually, the primary goal of a business is to increase profits and growth. If 

it can grow a global customer base and increase its market share abroad, it may believe 

that opening offices in foreign countries is worth the expense and effort. 

Multinational Corporation: Definition, How It Works, Four Types 
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What Is a Multinational Corporation? 

A multinational corporation (MNC) is a company that has business operations in 

at least one country other than its home country. By some definitions, it also generates 

at least 25% of its revenue outside of its home country. 

Generally, a multinational company has offices, factories, or other facilities in 

different countries around the world as well as a centralized headquarters which 

coordinates global management. 

Multinational companies can also be known as international, stateless, or 

transnational corporate organizations or enterprises. Some may have budgets that 

exceed those of small countries.  

 

 

 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/r/revenue.asp
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10 Basic Principles of Financial Management 

To master Financial Management you can start with your own finances. 

 1. Organize Your Finances 

 Organizing your finances is the first step to creating wealth. Credit cards, 

bank accounts, personal loans, brokerage accounts, mortgages, car loans and 

retirement accounts should to be tracked. Budgeting software can provide complete 

solutions to track all such accounts, make on-time payments and more. Jeff Morris, a 

certified public accountant in Bethesda, Maryland, points out: “Once you enter your 

accounts and balances into budgeting software, you will be able to spend less time 

getting organized and more time making sense of your situation.” 

 2. Spend Less Than You Earn 

 Personal financial software provides powerful tools to help you track and 

budget your spending and take steps to achieve your long-term goals. If you learn to 

track your finances and know where you spend the most, you’ll be able to control your 

money. “The best way to ensure that you either overcome debt or avoid it in the first 

place is to never spend more than you make,” Morris says. 

 3. Put Your Money to Work 
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 Take advantage of the time value of money. Morris gives the following 

example: “A 21-year-old who invests $17.50 a day until retiring at the age of 65 at a 5 

percent average annual investment return can be a millionaire. At age 30, the required 

daily savings amount almost doubles. At age 40 the amount quadruples.” So save early 

and often, even if the amount is small. 

 4. Limit Debt to Income-Producing Assets 

 With credit cards and car loans, every penny you spend to repay that debt 

is money flushed down the drain. All but a few models of cars depreciate to zero and 

require more in repairs and finance charges than can be reasonably expected to be 

returned to the owner upon being sold. Morris explains, “With their ultra-high interest 

rates, credit cards utilized to buy household goods and clothes that quickly wear out are 

bad bargains. If you have to be in debt, stick to financing items that retain their value 

over time, like real estate and education.” 

 5.Continuously Educate Yourself 

 Budgeting software often links to hoards of research that puts the 

collective knowledge of Wall Street at your fingertips. “Read every financial periodical, 

book and blog you can find from well-regarded financial authors,” Morris recommends. 

“Understand why you are investing so that you will stick to your plan. Periodically gather 

research so you do not miss excellent investment opportunities.” 

 6. Understand Risk 

 The key to understanding return on investments is that the more you risk, 

the better the return should be. This is called a risk-return trade-off. Investments like 

stock and bonds that have a higher rate of return often have a higher risk of losing the 

principal that you invested. Investments like certificates of deposit and money market 

accounts with a lower rate of return have a lower risk of losing principal. Since no one 

knows the future, you cannot be 100 percent sure any investment will do well. Morris 

explains, “If you diversify your investments, one can go sour without severe impact to 

your overall portfolio.” 

 7. Diversification Is Not Just for Investments 

 Find creative ways to diversify your income. Everyone has a talent or 

special skill. “Turn your talents into a money-making opportunity. Investigate ways to 

make money from home and launch a home-based business,” Morris says. The extra 

income can supplement your full-time income or even result in an exciting career 

change. Good financial management software can show you how even a slight 

improvement in income can positively change your financial profile. 
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 8. Maximize Your Employment Benefits 

 Employment benefits like a 401(k) plan, flexible spending accounts and 

medical and dental insurance yield some of the highest rates of return that you have 

access to. “Make sure you are taking advantage of all the ways benefits can save you 

money by reducing taxes or out-of-pocket expenses,” says Morris. 

 9.Pay Attention to Taxes 

 Financial planning software helps you manage your tax information. For 

example, Quicken quickly analyzes taxable investments and provides powerful 

organizing tools that make year-end tax filings go much smoother. Morris emphasizes, 

“We all know that any money you make is going to be taxed. That is why it is important 

to consider the related tax implications for every investment.” 

  10.Plan for the Unexpected 

 Despite of your best efforts, you’ll face unforeseen emergencies. Morris 

urges, “Save enough money and stock up on insurance to be able to weather extended 

unemployment, accidents, catastrophic medical care, large car or house repairs and 

natural disasters.” Increasing the amount of money you save when times are good can 

help you manage the cost impact of hedging against bumps in the road, making sure 

unexpected financial exposure does not derail your long-term goals and your family’s 

financial security. 

  

REMEMBER: 

 Multinational corporations conduct business in two or more countries. 

 Some consider a multinational company to be one that generates 25% or 

more of its revenue outside the home country. 

 An MNC can have a positive economic effect on the countries in which it 

operates. 

 Some believe outsourcing U.S. manufacturing to a foreign country has a 

negative effect on the U.S. economy. 

 Investing in a multinational corporation is a way to add international 

exposure to a portfolio. 

  

Multinational Corporations 

How a Multinational Corporation Works 

A multinational corporation is an enterprise whose business activities occur in at 

least two countries. Some may consider any company with a foreign branch to be a 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/o/outsourcing.asp
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multinational corporation. Others may limit the definition to only those companies that 

derive at least a quarter of their revenue outside of their home country. 

Multinational companies can make direct investments in foreign countries. Many 

are based in developed nations. Advocates say they create high-paying jobs and 

technologically advanced goods in countries that otherwise would not have access to 

such opportunities or goods. 

However, critics of these enterprises believe multinational corporations exert 

undue political influence over governments, exploit developing nations, and create job 

losses in their own home countries. 

The history of the multinational company is linked with the history of colonialism. 

Many of the first multinational companies were commissioned at the behest of 

European monarchs to conduct international expeditions. 

Some of the colonies not held by Spain or Portugal existed under the 

administration of some of the world's earliest multinational companies. One of the first 

was The East India Company, established in 1600. This British multinational enterprise 

took part in international trade and exploration, and operated trading posts in 

India.1 Other early examples of multinational companies include the Swedish Africa 

Company, founded in 1649, and the Hudson's Bay Company, founded in 1670.  

 

Characteristics of a Multinational Corporation 

Some of the characteristics common to various types of multinational 

corporations include: 

 A worldwide business presence 

 Typically, large and powerful organizations 

 Business conducted in various languages 

 A complicated business model and structure 

 Direct investments in foreign countries 

 Jobs created in foreign countries, potentially with higher wages than 

found locally 

 Seeks improved efficiencies, lower production costs, larger market share 

 Has substantial expenses associated with navigating rules and 

regulations of foreign countries 

 Pays taxes in countries in which it operates 

 Reports financial information according to International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS) 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/c/consumer-goods.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/i/ifrs.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/i/ifrs.asp
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 Sometimes accused of negative economic and/or environmental impacts 

in foreign markets 

 Sometimes accused of negative economic impacts in home country due 

to outsourcing jobs 

U.S. multinational corporations employed 43.9 million workers throughout the 

world in 2019. 

 

4 Types of Multinational Corporations 

Multinational corporations can be viewed as four main organizational types. 

A Decentralized Corporation 

A decentralized corporation maintains a presence in its home country and has 

autonomous offices and other facilities in locations around the world. This type of 

multinational company has the capability to achieve more, faster because it's 

decentralized. Each office manages the local business itself, making its own decisions. 

A Centralized Global Corporation 

A centralized global corporation has a central headquarters in the home country. 

Executive officers and management located there oversee the global offices and 

operations as well as domestic operations. They, rather than managers at local offices 

in foreign countries, make the key business decisions. The offices typically must report 

to and obtain approval from headquarters personnel for major activities. 

An International Division Within a Corporation 

An international division is that part of the multinational corporation that has 

been made responsible for all international operations. This structure facilitates 

business decision-making and general activities in local, foreign markets. However, 

operating independently can pose problems when overall corporate consensus and 

action is required. Maintaining and presenting the carefully nurtured, enterprise-wide 

brand image established by the multinational may also be a challenge. 

A Transnational Corporation 

A transnational corporation involves a parent-subsidiary structure whereby the 

parent company oversees the operations of subsidiaries in foreign countries as well as 

in the home country. Subsidiaries can make use of the parent's assets, such as 

research and development data. Subsidiaries may be different brands, as well. The 

parent usually maintains a management role directing the operations of its subsidiaries, 

domestic and foreign. 
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Examples of multinational corporations include IBM, Berkshire Hathaway, Apple, 

Microsoft, Amazon, and Walmart. Nestlé S.A. is an example of a transnational 

corporation that executes business and operational decisions in and outside of its 

headquarters. One of its subsidiaries is Nespresso.5 

Advantages and Disadvantages of Multinational Corporations 

International operations present a variety of advantages and disadvantages to 

multinational companies, consumers, and a workforce. 

Advantages 

Developing an international presence can open up new markets and sales 

opportunities unavailable or not feasible when operating just domestically. For 

example, a presence in a foreign country such as India can allow a corporation to meet 

widespread Indian demand for particular products without the transaction costs 

associated with long-distance shipping.  

Corporations can establish operations in markets where their capital can be 

used most efficiently and wages have less impact on the bottom line than they did in 

the home country. 

By producing the same quality of goods at lower costs, multinational companies 

can reduce prices and increase the purchasing power of consumers worldwide. 

Multinational companies can also take advantage of lower tax rates available in 

countries eager for their direct investments and the jobs that they'll create. Note, 

however, that the European Union has a plan to implement a minimum tax of 15% on 

corporate profits, to become effective in 2023.  

Other benefits include a direct financial investment in foreign countries and job 

growth in their local economies. 

Disadvantages 

A trade-off of globalization—the price of lower prices—is that domestic jobs 

move overseas. This can increase unemployment in the home country and make it 

difficult for longtime employees in outsourced industries to find new jobs. 

Those opposed to multinational corporations point to the potential they may 

have to develop a monopoly (for certain products). This can drive up prices for 

consumers, stifle competition, and inhibit innovation. 

Multinational corporations are also said to have a detrimental effect on the 

environment because their operations may encourage land development and the 

depletion of local and natural resources.  

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/g/globalization.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/m/monopoly.asp
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Multinational companies may also cause the downfall of small, local businesses. 

Activists have also claimed that multinational companies breach ethical standards. 

They accuse them of evading laws to advance their business agendas. 

 

What Makes a Corporation Multinational? 

A multinational corporation is one that has business offices and operations in 

two or more countries in the world. These companies are often managed from a central 

office headquartered in the home country. Simply exporting goods for sale abroad does 

not make a business a multinational company. 

Why Would a Business Want to Become a Multinational Company? 

Usually, the primary goal of a business is to increase profits and growth. If it can 

grow a global customer base and increase its market share abroad, it may believe that 

opening offices in foreign countries is worth the expense and effort. Companies may 

also see a benefit in certain tax structures or regulatory regimes found abroad. 

 

What Are Some Risks That Multinational Corporations Face? 

Multinational corporations are exposed to risks related to the different countries 

and regions in which they operate. These can include regulatory or legal risks, political 

instability, crime and violence, cultural sensitivities, as well as fluctuations in currency 

exchange rates. People in the home country may also resent the outsourcing of jobs. 

 

 

MODEL QUESTIONS 

1. What is finance? Define business finance. 

2. Explain the types of finance. 

3. Discuss the objectives of financial management. 

4. Critically evaluate various approaches to the financial management. 

5. Explain the scope of financial management. 

6. Discuss the role of financial manager. 

7. Explain the importance of financial 
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Topic 2. Financial Statements 

 

 Financial reporting . 

  The Objective of General Purpose Financial Reporting  

The objective of general purpose financial reporting is to provide financial 

information about the reporting entity that is useful to existing and potential investors, 

lenders and other creditors in making decisions relating to providing resources to the 

entity. Those decisions include buying, selling or holding equity and debt instruments, 

providing or settling loans and other forms of credit, exercising rights to vote on, or 

otherwise influence, management. General purpose financial reports provide 

information about the resources of, and claims against, an entity and the effects of 

transactions and other events on those resources and claims. 

It’s useful t remember: 

Golden rules of accounting 

 Rule 1: Debit all expenses and losses, credit all incomes and gains. 

 Rule 2: Debit the receiver, credit the giver. 

 Rule 3: Debit what comes in, credit what goes out. 

 

Financial reporting aims to track, analyze and report your business income. This 

helps you and any investors make informed decisions about how to manage the 

business. These reports examine resource usage and cash flow to assess the financial 

health of the business. 

What is the concept of financial reporting? 

Financial reporting is a standard accounting practice that uses financial 

statements to disclose a company's financial information and performance over a 

particular period, usually on an annual or quarterly basis. 

 

What are the two bases of financial reporting? 

The two main types of bases are cash basis and accrual basis accounting. Cash 

basis records finances when money exchanges hands, while accrual basis when the 

transaction occurs, whether or not any cash has been received or paid. 

 

Why Do Shareholders Need Financial Statements? 
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Financial statements provide a snapshot of a corporation's financial health at a 

particular point in time, giving insight into its performance, operations, cash flow, and 

overall conditions. Shareholders need financial statements to make informed decisions 

about their equity investments, especially when it comes time to vote on corporate 

matters. 

There are a variety of tools shareholders have at their disposal to make these 

equity evaluations. In order to make better decisions, it is important for them to analyze 

their stocks using a variety of measurements, rather than just a few. Some of the 

metrics available include profitability ratios, liquidity ratios, debt ratios, efficiency ratios, 

and price ratios. 

 

REMEMBER: 

 Financial statements provide a snapshot of a corporation's financial 

health, giving insight into its performance, operations, and cash flow. 

 Financial statements are essential since they provide information about a 

company's revenue, expenses, profitability, and debt. 

 Financial ratio analysis involves the evaluation of line items in financial 

statements to compare the results to previous periods and competitors. 

 Liquidity and solvency ratios provide information about a company's ability 

to repay its debts and obligations. 

 Valuation ratios help determine a fair value or price target for a company's 

shares. 

 

Financial statements are the financial records that show a company's business 

activity and financial performance. Companies are required to report their financial 

statements on a quarterly and annual basis by the U.S. Securities and Exchange 

Commission (SEC). The SEC monitors the markets and companies to ensure that 

everyone is playing by the same rules and that markets function efficiently. There are 

specific guidelines that are required by the SEC when issuing financial reports so that 

investors can analyze and compare one company with another easily. 

 Financial statements are important to investors because they can provide 

enormous information about a company's revenue, expenses, profitability, debt load, 

and the ability to meet its short-term and long-term financial obligations. There are 

three major financial statements. 

Balance Sheet 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/f/financial-statements.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/s/sec.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/s/sec.asp
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The balance sheet shows a company's assets (what they own), liabilities (what 

they owe), and stockholders' equity (or ownership) at a given moment.3 

Income Statement 

The income statement reports the revenue generated from sales, the operating 

expenses involved in creating that revenue as well as other costs, such as taxes and 

interest expense on any debt on the balance sheet. The net amount or the bottom line 

of the income statement is the net income or the profit for the period. Net income 

is revenue minus all of the costs of doing business.3 

Cash Flow Statement 

The cash flow statement (CFS) measures the cash generated for a period, 

including all of the transactions added to or subtracted from cash. Cash flow is 

important because it shows how much cash is available to meet short-term obligations, 

invest in the company, or pay dividends to shareholders.3 

 In addition to reviewing a company's financial statements themselves, also pay 

attention to the information provided in the footnotes to the financial statements. 

What are the three objectives of financial reporting? 

The objectives of financial reporting cover three areas, dealing with useful 

information, cash flows, and liabilities. 

What are the two 2 main objectives of financial reporting? 

Reported information should cover both monetary and non-monetary information. 

There are two basic objectives of financial reporting: first, to help users make 

investment decisions; and second, to provide information that enables a judgment about 

the effectiveness of the enterprise to be made. 

What is the best objective of financial reporting? 

The most specific objective of external financial reporting is to provide information 

about the enterprise's resources, claims to those resources, and how both the 

resources and claims to resources change over time. 

What is the most important in financial reporting? 

Another way of looking at the question is which two statements provide the most 

information? In that case, the best selection is the income statement and balance sheet, 

since the statement of cash flows can be constructed from these two documents 

What are the uses of financial reporting? 

Financial reporting allows finance teams and the business to track and analyze 

cash inflows and outflows to help identify current and future cash flow risks. This 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/b/balancesheet.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/i/incomestatement.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/n/netincome.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/r/revenue.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/investing/what-is-a-cash-flow-statement/
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/c/cashflow.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/d/dividend.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/articles/02/050102.asp
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ensures that the organization has sufficient cash flow to grow the business and take 

advantage of opportunities when they arise. 

Examples of Financial Reporting 

External financial statements (income statement, statement of comprehensive income, 

balance sheet, statement of cash flows, and statement of stockholders' equity) 

 

Characteristics of a Good Report 

 Several characteristics of a good report include: Precision. ... 

 Accuracy of Facts. Information contained in a report must be based on 

accurate facts. ... 

 Relevancy. The facts presented in a report should be accurate and 

relevant. ... 

 Conciseness. ... 

 Grammatical. ... 

 Clarity. ... 

 Presentation. ... 

 Complete Information. 

  

 What are the 5 C's of report writing? 

 All this can be avoided by following the 5 Cs of report writing. For reports 

to help your team in any situation, they have to be clear, concise, complete, consistent, 

and courteous. 

 What are the qualities of financial reporting? 

 The two fundamental qualitative characteristics of financial reports 

are relevance and faithful representation. The four enhancing qualitative characteristics 

are comparability, verifiability, timeliness and understandability 

What are the five elements of financial reporting? 

The elements of the financial statements will be assets, liabilities, net 

assets/equity, revenues and expenses. 

What are the rules of financial reporting? 

Financial statements need to reflect certain basic features: fair presentation, 

going concern, accrual basis, materiality and aggregation, and no offsetting. Financial 

statements must be prepared at least annually, must include comparative information 

from the previous period, and must be consistent. 

What are limitations of financial reporting? 
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Financial Statements Have No Predictive Value 

The information in a set of financial statements provides information about either 

historical results or the financial status of a business as of a specific date. The 

statements do not necessarily provide any value in predicting what will happen in the 

future. 

What are the two bases of financial reporting? 

The two main types of bases are cash basis and accrual basis accounting. Cash 

basis records finances when money exchanges hands, while accrual basis when the 

transaction occurs, whether or not any cash has been received or paid. 

What are the five elements of financial reporting? 

The elements of the financial statements will be assets, liabilities, net 

assets/equity, revenues and expenses. 

What are the 10 main components of a report? 

The components of a formal report are a cover page, a letter of transmittal, a 

table of contents, a list of figures and tables, an executive summary, an introduction, 

methods, a results section, a discussion section, conclusion, recommendations, and an 

appendix. 

 How many types of financial reports are there? 

 The three main types financial statements are the balance sheet, the 

income statement, and the cash flow statement. These three statements together show 

the assets and liabilities of a business, its revenues and costs, as well as its cash flows 

from operating, investing, and financing activities. 

 What are the 4 four key of financial statement? 

 But if you're looking for investors for your business, or want to apply for 

credit, you'll find that four types of financial statements—the balance sheet, the income 

statement, the cash flow statement, and the statement of owner's equity—can be crucial 

in helping you meet your financing goals. 

What is the meaning of International financial reporting Standard? 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) are a set of accounting rules 

for the financial statements of public companies that are intended to make them 

consistent, transparent, and easily comparable around the world. The IFRS is issued by 

the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and used in 161 countries. 

What are the 4 principles of IFRS? 

IFRS requires that financial statements be prepared using four basic 

principles: clarity, relevance, reliability, and comparability  
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What are the new IFRS Standards? 

IFRS 17 establishes the principles for the recognition, measurement, 

presentation and disclosure of insurance contracts within the scope of the standard. The 

objective of IFRS 17 is to ensure that an entity provides relevant information that 

faithfully represents those contracts. 

What is IFRS checklist? 

The checklist summarizes the recognition, measurement, presentation and 

disclosure requirements set out in IFRS® Standards in issue as of December 31, 2021. 

The Objective of General Purpose Financial Reporting  (see above) 

The objective of general purpose financial reporting is to provide financial 

information about the reporting entity that is useful to existing and potential investors, 

lenders and other creditors in making decisions relating to providing resources to the 

entity. Those decisions include buying, selling or holding equity and debt instruments, 

providing or settling loans and other forms of credit, exercising rights to vote on, or 

otherwise influence, management. General purpose financial reports provide 

information about the resources of, and claims against, an entity and the effects of 

transactions and other events on those resources and claims. 

 Qualitative Characteristics of Useful Financial Information  

For financial information to be useful, it needs to meet the qualitative 

characteristics set out in the Framework. The fundamental qualitative characteristics are 

relevance and faithful representation. Financial reports represent economic phenomena 

in words and numbers. To be useful, financial information must not only represent 

relevant phenomena, but it must also faithfully represent the substance of the 

phenomena that it purports to represent. In the sections that follow, we have 

summarised the requirements of the Standards and Interpretations on issue at 1 April 

2021.  

Faithful representation means the information must be complete, neutral and free 

from error. Neutrality is supported by exercising caution when making judgements under 

conditions of uncertainty, which is referred to in the Framework as prudence. Such 

prudence does not imply a need for asymmetry, for example, a systematic need for 

more persuasive evidence to support the recognition of assets or income than the 

recognition of liabilities or expenses. Such asymmetry is not a qualitative characteristic 

of useful financial information. Financial information is also more useful if it is 

comparable, verifiable, timely and understandable. Financial Statements and the 

Reporting Entity 
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 Financial statements are prepared from the perspective of an entity as a whole, 

rather than from the perspective of any particular group of investors, lenders or other 

creditors (the entity perspective). Financial statements are prepared on the assumption 

that the reporting entity is a going concern and will continue in operation for the 

foreseeable future.  

A reporting entity is an entity that chooses, or is required, to prepare financial 

statements. Obvious examples include a single legal structure, such as an incorporated 

entity, and a group comprising a parent and its subsidiaries. A reporting entity need not 

be a legal entity, although this makes it more difficult to establish clear boundaries when 

it is not a legal entity, or a parent-subsidiary group. When a reporting entity is not a legal 

entity, the boundary should be set by focusing on the information needs of the primary 

users. 

 A reporting entity could also be a portion of a legal entity, such as a branch or 

the activities within a defined region. The Framework acknowledges combined financial 

statements. These are financial statements prepared by a reporting entity comprising 

two or more entities that are not linked by a parent subsidiary relationship. However, the 

Framework does not discuss when or how to prepare them.  

 

The Elements of Financial Statements 

 An asset is a present economic resource controlled by the entity as a result of 

past events.  

An economic resource is a set of rights—the right to use, sell, or pledge the 

object, as well as other undefined rights. In principle, each right could be a separate 

asset. However, related rights will most commonly be viewed collectively as a single 

asset that forms a single unit of account. 

 Control links a right to an entity and is the present ability to direct how a resource 

is used so as to obtain the economic benefits from that resource (power and benefits).  

can be controlled by only one party at any point in time.  

is a present obligation of the entity to transfer an economic resource as a result 

of past events.  

An obligation is a duty or responsibility that an entity has no practical ability to 

avoid. 

 An entity may have no practical ability to avoid a transfer if any action that it 

could take to avoid the transfer would have economic consequences significantly more 

adverse than the transfer itself.  
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The going-concern basis implies that an entity has no practical ability to avoid a 

transfer that could be avoided only by liquidating the entity or by ceasing to trade. If new 

legislation is enacted, a present obligation arises only when an entity obtains economic 

benefits, or takes an action, within the scope of that legislation.  

The unit of account is the right or the group of rights, the obligation or the group 

of obligations, or the group of rights and obligations, to which recognition criteria and 

measurement concepts are applied. Equity is the residual interest in the assets of the 

entity after deducting all its liabilities.  

Income is increases in assets, or decreases in liabilities, that result in increases 

in equity, other than those relating to contributions from holders of equity claims. 

 Expenses are decreases in assets, or increases in liabilities, that result in 

decreases in equity, other than those relating to distributions to holders of equity claims. 

 

What are the 3 key financial documents? 

The income statement, balance sheet, and statement of cash flows are required 

financial statements. These three statements are informative tools that traders can use 

to analyze a company's financial strength and provide a quick picture of a company's 

financial health and underlying value. 

What 7 items must financial statements consist of? 

Revenues and expenses are included in the income statement. Changes in these 

elements are noted in the statement of cash flows.... 

The main elements of financial statements are as follows: 

 Assets. ... 

 Liabilities. ... 

 Equity. ... 

 Revenue. ... 

 Expenses. 

 

What are 2 most important financial statements sheets?  

The balance sheet provides an overview of assets, liabilities, and shareholders' equity 

as a snapshot in time. The income statement primarily focuses on a company's 

revenues and expenses during a particular period 

Which financial statement is prepared first?  

The income statement 
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The income statement, which is sometimes called the statement of earnings or 

statement of operations, is prepared first. It lists revenues and expenses and calculates 

the company's net income or net loss for a period of time. 

What is the most important financial report? 

The most important financial statement for the majority of users is likely to be 

the income statement, since it reveals the ability of a business to generate a profit. Also, 

the information listed on the income statement is mostly in relatively current dollars, and 

so represents a reasonable degree of accuracy. 

It starts with current assets, then non-current assets, and total assets. Below that are 

liabilities and stockholders' equity, which includes current liabilities, non-current 

liabilities, and finally shareholders' equity 

What are the 2 basic forms of the balance sheet - Balance Sheet Formats? 

Standard accounting conventions present the balance sheet in one of two formats: the 

account form (horizontal presentation) and the report form (vertical presentation). 

What are the 10 elements of financial statement? 

The 10 elements are: (1) assets, (2) liabilities, (3) equity, (4) investments by 

owners, (5) distributions to owners, (6) revenues, (7) expenses, (8) gains, (9) losses, 

and (10) comprehensive income. 

What Are Financial Statements? 

Financial statements are written records that convey the business activities and 

the financial performance of a company. Financial statements are often audited by 

government agencies, accountants, firms, etc. to ensure accuracy and for tax, 

financing, or investing purposes. For-profit primary financial statements include the 

balance sheet, income statement, statement of cash flow, and statement of changes in 

equity. Nonprofit entities use a similar but different set of financial statements. 

REMEMBER: 

 Financial statements are written records that convey the business 

activities and the financial performance of an entity. 

 The balance sheet provides an overview of assets, liabilities, and 

shareholders' equity as a snapshot in time. 

 The income statement primarily focuses on a company’s revenues and 

expenses during a particular period. Once expenses are subtracted from revenues, the 

statement produces a company's profit figure called net income. 

 The cash flow statement (CFS) measures how well a company generates 

cash to pay its debt obligations, fund its operating expenses, and fund investments. 
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 The statement of changes in equity records how profits are retained within 

a company for future growth or distributed to external parties. 

Understanding Financial Statements 

Investors and financial analysts rely on financial data to analyze the 

performance of a company and make predictions about the future direction of the 

company's stock price. One of the most important resources of reliable and audited 

financial data is the annual report, which contains the firm's financial statements. 

The financial statements are used by investors, market analysts, and creditors to 

evaluate a company's financial health and earnings potential. The three major financial 

statement reports are the balance sheet, income statement, and statement of cash 

flows.  

Not all financial statements are created equally. The rules used by U.S. 

companies is called Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, while the rules often 

used by international companies is International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

In addition, U.S. government agencies use a different set of financial reporting rules. 

Balance Sheet 

The balance sheet provides an overview of a company's assets, liabilities, and 

shareholders' equity as a snapshot in time. The date at the top of the balance sheet 

tells you when the snapshot was taken, which is generally the end of the reporting 

period. Below is a breakdown of the items in a balance sheet. 

Assets 

 Cash and cash equivalents are liquid assets, which may include Treasury 

bills and certificates of deposit. 

 Accounts receivables are the amount of money owed to the company by 

its customers for the sale of its product and service. 

 Inventory is the goods a company on hand it intends to sell as a course of 

business. Inventory may include finished goods, work in progress that are not yet 

finished, or raw materials on hand that have yet to be worked. 

 Prepaid expenses are costs that have been paid in advance of when they 

are due. These expenses are recorded as an asset because the value of them has not 

yet been recognized; should the benefit not be recognized, the company would 

theoretically be due a refund. 

 Property, plant, and equipment are capital assets owned by a company 

for its long-term benefit. This includes buildings used for manufacturing for heavy 

machinery used for processing raw materials. 

https://www.investopedia.com/articles/basics/10/efficiently-read-annual-report.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/ask/answers/06/compiledandcertifiedfinancialstatements.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/b/balancesheet.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/ask/answers/032615/why-do-shareholders-need-financial-statements.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/c/cashandcashequivalents.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/a/accountsreceivable.asp
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 Investments are assets held for speculative future growth. These aren't 

used in operations; they are simply held for capital appreciation. 

 Trademarks, patents, goodwill, and other intangible assets can't be 

physically be touched but have future economic (and often long-term benefits) for the 

company. 

Liabilities 

 Accounts payable are the bills due as part of the normal course of 

operations of a business. This includes the utility bills, rent invoices, and obligations to 

buy raw materials. 

 Wages payable are payments due to staff for time worked. 

 Notes payable are recorded debt instruments that record official debt 

agreements including the payment schedule and amount. 

 Dividends payable are dividends that have been declared to be awarded 

to shareholders but have not yet been paid. 

 Long-term debt can include a variety of obligations including sinking bond 

funds, mortgages, or other loans that are due in their entirety in longer than one year. 

Note that the short-term portion of this debt is recorded as a current liability. 

Shareholders' Equity 

 Shareholders' equity is a company's total assets minus its total 

liabilities. Shareholders' equity (also known as stockholders' equity) represents the 

amount of money that would be returned to shareholders if all of the assets were 

liquidated and all of the company's debt was paid off. 

 Retained earnings are part of shareholders' equity and are the amount 

of net earnings that were not paid to shareholders as dividends.  

Example of a Balance Sheet  

Below is a portion of ExxonMobil Corporation's (XOM) balance sheet for fiscal-

year 2021, reported as of Dec. 31, 2021. 

 Total assets were $338.9 billion. 

 Total liabilities were $163.2 billion. 

 Total equity was $175.7 billion. 

 Total liabilities and equity were $338.9 billion, which equals the total 

assets for the period.1 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/d/dividend.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/s/shareholdersequity.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/s/stockholdersequity.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/r/retainedearnings.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/markets/quote?tvwidgetsymbol=xom
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The Difference Between Horizontal and Vertical Balance sheets is of 

presentation. In the horizontal balance sheet, the assets and liabilities are shown side 

by side but in the vertical balance sheet, the assets and liabilities are shown from top to 

bottom 

What is the Horizontal form of the Balance sheet? 

In this form of presentation of the balance sheet, we have to present all account 

information across the page from left to right. All assets are shown on the corresponding 

side of all liabilities. All liabilities are shown on the left side of the balance sheet and all 

assets are shown on the right side of the balance sheet.  
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There is also two way to sort the accounts of assets and liabilities, these are 

shown as following:  

1. Based on Liquidity  

2. Based on Permanence  

What is the Verticals form of the Balance sheet? 

In the vertical form of the presentation of the balance sheet, we have to present 

all account information across the page from top to bottom. First, we show all liabilities 

and capital and then after all assets. All assets are shown after all liabilities. 

1. There is also two way to sort the accounts of assets and liabilities, these 

are shown as following: Based on Liquidity  

2. Based on Permanence 

Chart of Difference between Horizontal and Vertical Balance sheet: – 

Basis of 

Difference 
Horizontal Vertical 

 

Thus, both terms have the only main difference of presentation of the accounts of 

assets, liabilities, and capital. One is prepared side by side and another is prepared 

from top to bottom. 

 What Is an Asset? 

An asset is a resource with economic value that an individual, corporation, or 

country owns or controls with the expectation that it will provide a future benefit. 

https://tutorstips.com/balance-sheet/#based-on-liquidity-8211
https://tutorstips.com/balance-sheet/#based-on-permanence-8211
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/e/economic-value.asp
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Assets are reported on a company's balance sheet. They're classified as 

current, fixed, financial, and intangible. They are bought or created to increase a firm's 

value or benefit the firm's operations. 

An asset can be thought of as something that, in the future, can generate cash 

flow, reduce expenses, or improve sales, regardless of whether it's manufacturing 

equipment or a patent.  

REMEMBER: 

 An asset is a resource with economic value that an individual, 

corporation, or country owns or controls with the expectation that it will provide a future 

benefit. 

 Assets are reported on a company's balance sheet. 

 They are bought or created to increase a firm's value or benefit the firm's 

operations. 

 An asset is something that may generate cash flow, reduce expenses or 

improve sales, regardless of whether it's manufacturing equipment or a patent. 

 Assets can be classified as current, fixed, financial, or intangible. 

Understanding Assets 

An asset represents an economic resource owned or controlled by, for example, 

a company. An economic resource is something that may be scarce and has the ability 

to produce economic benefit by generating cash inflows or decreasing cash outflows. 

An asset can also represent access that other individuals or firms do not have. 

Furthermore, a right or other type of access can be legally enforceable, which 

means economic resources can be used at a company's discretion. Their use can be 

precluded or limited by an owner. 

For something to be considered an asset, a company must possess a right to it 

as of the date of the company's financial statements. 

Assets can be broadly categorized into current (or short-term) assets, fixed 

assets, financial investments, and intangible assets. 

Types of Assets 

Current Assets 

In accounting, some assets are referred to as current. Current assets are short-

term economic resources that are expected to be converted into cash or consumed 

within one year. Current assets include cash and cash equivalents, accounts 

receivable, inventory, and various prepaid expenses. 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/f/fixedasset.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/f/fixedasset.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/c/currentassets.asp
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While cash is easy to value, accountants periodically reassess the recoverability 

of inventory and accounts receivable. If there is evidence that a receivable might be 

uncollectible, it'll be classified as impaired. Or if inventory becomes obsolete, 

companies may write off these assets. 

 Some assets are recorded on companies' balance sheets using the concept of 

historical cost. Historical cost represents the original cost of the asset when purchased 

by a company. Historical cost can also include costs (such as delivery and set up) 

incurred to incorporate an asset into the company's operations. 

Fixed Assets 

Fixed assets are resources with an expected life of greater than a year, such as 

plants, equipment, and buildings. An accounting adjustment called depreciation is 

made for fixed assets as they age. It allocates the cost of the asset over time. 

Depreciation may or may not reflect the fixed asset's loss of earning power. 

Generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) allow depreciation under 

several methods. The straight-line method assumes that a fixed asset loses its value in 

proportion to its useful life, while the accelerated method assumes that the asset loses 

its value faster in its first years of use. 

Financial Assets 

Financial assets represent investments in the assets and securities of other 

institutions. Financial assets include stocks, sovereign and corporate bonds, preferred 

equity, and other, hybrid securities. Financial assets are valued according to the 

underlying security and market supply and demand. 

Intangible Assets 

Intangible assets are economic resources that have no physical presence. They 

include patents, trademarks, copyrights, and goodwill. Accounting for intangible assets 

differs depending on the type of asset. They can be either amortized or tested for 

impairment each year. 

While an asset is something with economic value that's owned or controlled by a 

person or company, a liability is something that is owed by a person or company. A 

liability could be a loan, taxes payable, or accounts payable. 

What Is Considered an Asset? 

When looking at an asset definition, you'll typically find that it is something that 

provides a current, future, or potential economic benefit for an individual or company. 

An asset is, therefore, something that is owned by you or something that is owed to 

you. A $10 bill, a desktop computer, a chair, and a car are all assets. If you loaned 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/d/depreciation.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/g/gaap.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/ask/answers/051215/how-do-you-determine-tangible-assets-useful-life.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/ask/answers/051215/how-do-you-determine-tangible-assets-useful-life.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/a/accelerateddepreciation.asp


45 
 

money to someone, that loan is also an asset because you are owed that amount. For 

the person who owes it, the loan is a liability. 

What Are Examples of Assets? 

Personal assets can include a home, land, financial securities, jewelry, artwork, 

gold and silver, or your checking account. Business assets can include such things as 

motor vehicles, buildings, machinery, equipment, cash, and accounts receivable. 

What Are Non-Physical Assets? 

Non-physical or intangible assets provide an economic benefit even though you 

cannot physically touch them. They are an important class of assets that include things 

like intellectual property (e.g., patents or trademarks), contractual obligations, royalties, 

and goodwill. Brand equity and reputation are also examples of non-physical or 

intangible assets that can be quite valuable. 

Is Labor an Asset? 

No. Labor is the work carried out by human beings, for which they are paid in 

wages or a salary. Labor is distinct from assets, which are considered to be capital. 

How Are Current Assets Different From Fixed (Noncurrent) Assets? 

In accounting, assets are categorized by their time horizon of use. Current 

assets are expected to be sold or used within one year. Fixed assets, also known 

as noncurrent assets, are expected to be in use for longer than one year. Fixed assets 

are not easily liquidated. As a result, unlike current assets, fixed assets 

undergo depreciation. 

Current Assets vs. Noncurrent Assets: An Overview 

In financial accounting, assets are the resources that a company requires in 

order to run and grow its business. Assets are divided into two categories: current and 

noncurrent assets, which appear on a company's balance sheet and combine to form a 

company's total assets. You may think of current assets as short-term assets, which 

are necessary for a company's immediate needs; whereas noncurrent assets are long-

term, as they have a useful life of more than a year. 

REMEMBER: 

 Current assets are a company's short-term assets; those that can be 

liquidated quickly and used for a company's immediate needs. Noncurrent assets are 

long-term and have a useful life of more than a year. 

 Examples of current assets include cash, marketable securities, 

inventory, and accounts receivable. Examples of noncurrent assets include long-term 

investments, land, property, plant, and equipment (PP&E), and trademarks. 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/c/capital.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/n/noncurrent-assets.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/b/balancesheet.asp
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 Current assets are most often valued at market prices whereas 

noncurrent assets are valued at cost less depreciation. 

 Capital gains tax applies to profits on the sale of assets held for more 

than a year (noncurrent assets). 

Current Assets 

Current assets are considered short-term assets because they generally are 

convertible to cash within a firm's fiscal year, and are the resources that a company 

needs to run its day-to-day operations and pay its current expenses. Current assets 

are generally reported on the balance sheet at their current or market price. 

Current assets may include items such as: 

 Cash and cash equivalents 

 Accounts receivable 

 Prepaid expenses 

 Inventory 

 Marketable securities 

Cash and equivalents (that may be converted) may be used to pay a 

company's short-term debt. Accounts receivable consist of the expected payments 

from customers to be collected within one year. Inventory is also a current asset 

because it includes raw materials and finished goods that can be sold relatively quickly. 

 Marketable securities include assets such as stocks, Treasuries, commercial 

paper, exchange traded funds (ETFs), and other money market instruments. 

Another important current asset for any business is inventories. It is important 

for a company to maintain a certain level of inventory to run its business, but neither 

high nor low levels of inventory are desirable. Other current assets can include 

deferred income taxes and prepaid revenue. 

Noncurrent Assets 

Noncurrent assets are a company’s long-term investments that have a useful life 

of more than one year. Noncurrent assets cannot be converted to cash easily. They 

are required for the long-term needs of a business and include things like land and 

heavy equipment. 

Noncurrent assets are reported on the balance sheet at the price a company 

paid for them, which is adjusted for depreciation and amortization and is subject to 

being re-evaluated whenever the market price decreases compared to the book price. 

Noncurrent assets may include items such as: 

 Land 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/c/currentassets.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/m/market-price.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/s/shorttermdebt.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/n/noncurrent-assets.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/l/longterminvestments.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/ask/answers/06/amortizationvsdepreciation.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/b/bookvalue.asp
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 Property, plant, and equipment (PP&E) 

 Trademarks 

 Long-term investments and goodwill—when a company acquires another 

company 

Noncurrent assets may be subdivided into tangible and intangible assets—such 

as fixed and intangible assets. 

Fixed assets include property, plant, and equipment because they are tangible, 

meaning that they are physical in nature; we may touch them. A company cannot 

liquidate its PP&E easily. For example, an auto manufacturer's production facility would 

be labeled a noncurrent asset. 

Intangible assets are nonphysical assets, such as patents and copyrights. They 

are considered noncurrent assets because they provide value to a company but cannot 

be readily converted to cash within a year. Long-term investments, such as bonds and 

notes, are also considered noncurrent assets because a company usually holds these 

assets on its balance sheet for more than a year. 

Key Differences 

Current Assets 

 Equal to cash or will be converted into cash within a year 

 Used to fund immediate or current needs 

 

 Items like cash and cash equivalents, short term investments, accounts 

receivables, and inventories 

 Valued at market prices 

 

 Tax implications: Selling current assets results in the profit from trading 

activities 

 Current assets are generally not subject to revaluation—though in certain 

cases, inventories are subject to revaluation 

Noncurrent Assets 

 Will not be converted into cash within one year 

 Used to fund long-term or future needs 

 Items like long term investments, PP&E, goodwill, depreciation, 

amortization, and long-term deferred tax assets 

 Valued at cost less depreciation 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/g/goodwill.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/f/fixedasset.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/i/intangibleasset.asp
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 Tax implications: Selling assets results in capital gains and capital gains 

tax is applied 

 Common revaluation of PP&E—for instance, when the market value of a 

tangible asset decreases compared to the book value, a firm needs to revalue that 

asset 

Current Assets vs. Noncurrent Assets Example 

The portion of ExxonMobil's balance sheet pictured below from its 10-K 2021 

annual filing displays where you will find current and noncurrent assets. 

Current assets generally sit at the top of the balance sheet. Here, they include 

receivables due to Exxon, along with cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, 

and inventories. Total current assets for fiscal-year end 2021 were $59.2 billion. 

Noncurrent assets are listed below current assets. These represent Exxon's 

long-term investments like oil rigs and production facilities that come under property, 

plant, and equipment (PP&E). Total noncurrent assets for fiscal-year end 2021 were 

$279.7 billion. 

The combined total assets are located at the very bottom and for fiscal-year end 

2021 were $338.9 billion. 

 

What Are Examples of Current Assets and Noncurrent Assets? 

Examples of current assets include cash, marketable securities, cash 

equivalents, accounts receivable, and inventory. Examples of noncurrent assets 

include long-term investments, land, intellectual property and other intangibles, and 

property, plant, and equipment (PP&E). 

What Is the Difference Between a Fixed Asset and a Noncurrent Asset? 

A fixed asset is a type of noncurrent asset. Noncurrent assets include a variety 

of assets, such as fixed assets and intellectual property, and other intangibles. In 

general, a fixed asset is a physical asset that cannot be converted to cash readily. To 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/c/cashandcashequivalents.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/a/accountsreceivable.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/p/ppe.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/p/ppe.asp
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convert a fixed asset into cash may take months or over a year. Fixed assets include 

property, plant, and equipment, such as a factory. 

Why Are Noncurrent Assets Depreciated? 

Noncurrent assets are depreciated in order to spread the cost of the asset over 

the time that it is used; its useful life. Noncurrent assets are not depreciated in order to 

represent a new value or a replacement value but simply to allocate the cost of the 

asset over a period of time. 

 

What Is a Liability? 

A liability is something a person or company owes, usually a sum of money. 

Liabilities are settled over time through the transfer of economic benefits including 

money, goods, or services. 

Recorded on the right side of the balance sheet, liabilities include 

loans, accounts payable, mortgages, deferred revenues, bonds, warranties, and 

accrued expenses. 

Liabilities can be contrasted with assets. Liabilities refer to things that you owe 

or have borrowed; assets are things that you own or are owed. 

REMEMBER: 

 A liability (generally speaking) is something that is owed to somebody 

else. 

 Liability can also mean a legal or regulatory risk or obligation. 

 In accounting, companies book liabilities in opposition to assets. 

 Current liabilities are a company's short-term financial obligations that are 

due within one year or a normal operating cycle (e.g. accounts payable). 

 Long-term (non-current) liabilities are obligations listed on the balance 

sheet not due for more than a year. 

  

How Liabilities Work 

In general, a liability is an obligation between one party and another not yet 

completed or paid for. In the world of accounting, a financial liability is also an 

obligation but is more defined by previous business transactions, events, sales, 

exchange of assets or services, or anything that would provide economic benefit at a 

later date. Current liabilities are usually considered short-term (expected to be 

concluded in 12 months or less) and non-current liabilities are long-term (12 months or 

greater). 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/b/balancesheet.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/a/accountspayable.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/a/asset.asp
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Liabilities are categorized as current or non-current depending on their 

temporality. They can include a future service owed to others (short- or long-term 

borrowing from banks, individuals, or other entities) or a previous transaction that has 

created an unsettled obligation. The most common liabilities are usually the largest 

like accounts payable and bonds payable. Most companies will have these two line 

items on their balance sheet, as they are part of ongoing current and long-term 

operations. 

Liabilities are a vital aspect of a company because they are used to finance 

operations and pay for large expansions. They can also make transactions between 

businesses more efficient. For example, in most cases, if a wine supplier sells a case 

of wine to a restaurant, it does not demand payment when it delivers the goods. 

Rather, it invoices the restaurant for the purchase to streamline the drop-off and make 

paying easier for the restaurant. 

The outstanding money that the restaurant owes to its wine supplier is 

considered a liability. In contrast, the wine supplier considers the money it is owed to 

be an asset.  

Liability may also refer to the legal liability of a business or individual. For 

example, many businesses take out liability insurance in case a customer or employee 

sues them for negligence. 

Other Definitions of Liability 

Generally, liability refers to the state of being responsible for something, and this 

term can refer to any money or service owed to another party. Tax liability, for 

example, can refer to the property taxes that a homeowner owes to the municipal 

government or the income tax he owes to the federal government. When a retailer 

collects sales tax from a customer, they have a sales tax liability on their books until 

they remit those funds to the county/city/state. 

Liability can also refer to one's potential damages in a civil lawsuit. 

Types of Liabilities 

Businesses sort their liabilities into two categories: current and long-term. 

Current liabilities are debts payable within one year, while long-term liabilities are debts 

payable over a longer period. For example, if a business takes out a mortgage payable 

over a 15-year period, that is a long-term liability. However, the mortgage payments 

that are due during the current year are considered the current portion of long-term 

debt and are recorded in the short-term liabilities section of the balance sheet. 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/e/expansion.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/p/propertytax.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/l/longtermliabilities.asp
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Current (Near-Term) Liabilities 

Ideally, analysts want to see that a company can pay current liabilities, which 

are due within a year, with cash. Some examples of short-term liabilities include payroll 

expenses and accounts payable, which include money owed to vendors, monthly 

utilities, and similar expenses. Other examples include: 

 Wages Payable: The total amount of accrued income employees have 

earned but not yet received. Since most companies pay their employees every two 

weeks, this liability changes often. 

 Interest Payable: Companies, just like individuals, often use credit to 

purchase goods and services to finance over short time periods. This represents the 

interest on those short-term credit purchases to be paid. 

 Dividends Payable: For companies that have issued stock to investors 

and pay a dividend, this represents the amount owed to shareholders after the dividend 

was declared. This period is around two weeks, so this liability usually pops up four 

times per year, until the dividend is paid. 

 Unearned Revenues: This is a company's liability to deliver goods and/or 

services at a future date after being paid in advance. This amount will be reduced in 

the future with an offsetting entry once the product or service is delivered. 

 Liabilities of Discontinued Operations: This is a unique liability that most 

people glance over but should scrutinize more closely. Companies are required to 

account for the financial impact of an operation, division, or entity that is currently being 

held for sale or has been recently sold. This also includes the financial impact of 

a product line that is or has recently been shut down. 

Non-Current (Long-Term) Liabilities 

Considering the name, it’s quite obvious that any liability that is not near-term 

falls under non-current liabilities, expected to be paid in 12 months or more. Referring 

again to the AT&T example, there are more items than your garden variety company 

that may list one or two items. Long-term debt, also known as bonds payable, is 

usually the largest liability and at the top of the list. 

Companies of all sizes finance part of their ongoing long-term operations 

by issuing bonds that are essentially loans from each party that purchases the bonds. 

This line item is in constant flux as bonds are issued, mature, or called back by 

the issuer. 

Analysts want to see that long-term liabilities can be paid with assets derived 

from future earnings or financing transactions. Bonds and loans are not the only long-

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/c/currentliabilities.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/a/accruedincome.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/articles/03/011703.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/p/product-line.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/n/noncurrent-liabilities.asp
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term liabilities companies incur. Items like rent, deferred taxes, payroll, and pension 

obligations can also be listed under long-term liabilities. Other examples include: 

 Warranty Liability: Some liabilities are not as exact as AP and have to be 

estimated. It’s the estimated amount of time and money that may be spent repairing 

products upon the agreement of a warranty. This is a common liability in the 

automotive industry, as most cars have long-term warranties that can be costly. 

 Contingent Liability Evaluation: A contingent liability is a liability that may 

occur depending on the outcome of an uncertain future event. 

 Deferred Credits: This is a broad category that may be recorded as 

current or non-current depending on the specifics of the transactions. These credits are 

basically revenue collected before it is recorded as earned on the income statement. It 

may include customer advances, deferred revenue, or a transaction where credits are 

owed but not yet considered revenue. Once the revenue is no longer deferred, this 

item is reduced by the amount earned and becomes part of the company's revenue 

stream. 

 Post-Employment Benefits: These are benefits an employee or family 

members may receive upon his/her retirement, which are carried as a long-term liability 

as it accrues. In the AT&T example, this constitutes one-half of the total non-current 

total second only to long-term debt. With rapidly rising health care and deferred 

compensation, this liability is not to be overlooked. 

 Unamortized Investment Tax Credits (UITC): This represents the net 

between an asset's historical cost and the amount that has already been depreciated. 

The unamortized portion is a liability, but it is only a rough estimate of the asset’s fair 

market value. For an analyst, this provides some details of how aggressive or 

conservative a company is with its depreciation methods. 

Liabilities vs. Assets 

Assets are the things a company owns—or things owed to the company—and 

they include tangible items such as buildings, machinery, and equipment as well as 

intangible items such as accounts receivable, interest owed, patents, or intellectual 

property. 

If a business subtracts its liabilities from its assets, the difference is its owner's 

or stockholders' equity. This relationship can be expressed as follows: 

Assets−Liabilities=Owner’s Equity 

However, in most cases, this accounting equation is commonly presented as 

such: 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/w/warranty.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/c/contingentliability.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/i/incomestatement.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/f/fairmarketvalue.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/f/fairmarketvalue.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/d/depreciation.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/e/equity.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/a/accounting-equation.asp
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Assets=Liabilities+Equity 

Revenue  

Revenue is the money generated from normal business operations, calculated 

as the average sales price times the number of units sold. It is the top line (or gross 

income) figure from which costs are subtracted to determine net income. Revenue is 

also known as sales on the income statement. 

REMEMBER: 

 

 Revenue, often referred to as sales or the top line, is the money received 

from normal business operations. 

 Operating income is revenue (from the sale of goods or services) less 

operating expenses. 

 Non-operating income is infrequent or nonrecurring income derived from 

secondary sources (e.g., lawsuit proceeds). 

 Non-business entities such as governments, nonprofits, or individuals 

also report revenue, though calculations and sources for each differ. 

 Revenue is only sale proceeds, while income or profit incorporate the 

expenses to generate revenue and report the net (not gross) earnings. 

 

 What is Revenue? 

Understanding Revenue 

Revenue is money brought into a company by its business activities. There are 

different ways to calculate revenue, depending on the accounting method 

employed. Accrual accounting will include sales made on credit as revenue for goods 

or services delivered to the customer. Under certain rules, revenue is recognized even 

if payment has not yet been received. 

It is necessary to check the cash flow statement to assess how efficiently a 

company collects money owed. Cash accounting, on the other hand, will only count 

sales as revenue when payment is received. Cash paid to a company is known as a 

"receipt." It is possible to have receipts without revenue. For example, if the 

customer paid in advance for a service not yet rendered or undelivered goods, this 

activity leads to a receipt but not revenue. 

Revenue is known as the top line because it appears first on a company's 

income statement. Net income, also known as the bottom line, is revenues minus 

expenses. There is a profit when revenues exceed expenses. 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/i/incomestatement.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/a/accrualaccounting.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/c/cashflowstatement.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/c/cashaccounting.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/ask/answers/122214/what-difference-between-revenue-and-profit.asp
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To increase profit, and hence earnings per share (EPS) for its shareholders, a 

company increases revenues and/or reduces expenses. Investors often consider a 

company's revenue and net income separately to determine the health of a business. 

Net income can grow while revenues remain stagnant because of cost-cutting. 

Such a situation does not bode well for a company's long-term growth. When 

public companies report their quarterly earnings, two figures that receive a lot of 

attention are revenues and EPS. A company beating or missing analysts' revenue and 

earnings per share expectations can often move a stock's price. 

 Revenue may also be referred to as sales and is used in the price-to-sales 

(P/S) ratio—an alternative to the price-to-earnings (P/E) ratio that uses revenue in the 

denominator. 

Types of Revenue 

A company's revenue may be subdivided according to the divisions that 

generate it. For example, Toyota Motor Corporation may classify revenue across each 

type of vehicle. Alternatively, it can choose to group revenue by car type (i.e. compact 

vs. truck). 

A company may also distinguish revenue between tangible and intangible 

product lines. For example, Apple products include iPad, Apple Watch, and Apple TV. 

Alternatively, Apple may be interested in separately analyzing its Apple Music, Apple 

TV+, or iCloud services. 

Revenue can be divided into operating revenue—sales from a company's core 

business—and non-operating revenue which is derived from secondary sources. As 

these non-operating revenue sources are often unpredictable or nonrecurring, they can 

be referred to as one-time events or gains. For example, proceeds from the sale of an 

asset, a windfall from investments, or money awarded through litigation are non-

operating revenue. 

Formula and Calculation of Revenue 

The formula and calculation of revenue will vary across companies, industries, 

and sectors. A service company will have a different formula than a retailer, while a 

company that does not accept returns may have different calculations than companies 

with return periods. Broadly speaking, the formula to calculate net revenue is: 

Net Revenue = (Quantity Sold * Unit Price) - Discounts - Allowances - Returns 

The main component of revenue is the quantity sold multiplied by the price. For 

a service company, this is the number of service hours multiplied by the billable service 

rate. For a retailer, this is the number of goods sold multiplied by the sales price. 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/e/eps.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/e/earningsreport.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/p/price-to-salesratio.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/p/price-to-salesratio.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/p/price-earningsratio.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/o/operating-revenue.asp
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The obvious constraint with this formula is a company that has a diversified 

product line. For example, Apple can sell a MacBook, iPhone, and iPad, each for a 

different price. Therefore, the net revenue formula should be calculated for each 

product or service, then added together to get a company's total revenue. 

There are several components that reduce revenue reported on a company's 

financial statements in accordance to accounting guidelines. Discounts on the price 

offered, allowances awarded to customers, or product returns are subtracted from the 

total amount collected. Note that some components (i.e. discounts) should only be 

subtracted if the unit price used in the earlier part of the formula is at market (not 

discount) price. 

One entity's revenue is often another entity's expense. For example, your 

personal household expense of $1,000 to buy the latest smartphone is $1,000 revenue 

for the phone company. 

Revenue vs. Income/Profit 

Many entities may report both revenue and income/profit. These two terms are 

used to report different accumulations of numbers. 

Revenue is often the gross proceeds collected by an entity. It is the 

measurement of only income component of an entity's operations. For a business, 

revenue is all of the money it has earned. 

Income/profit usually incorporates other facets of a business. For example, net 

income or incorporate expenses such as cost of goods sold, operating expenses, 

taxes, and interest expenses. While revenue is a gross amount focused just on the 

collection of proceeds, income or profit incorporate other aspects of a business that 

reports the net proceeds. 

Special Considerations 

Recognizing Revenue: ASC 606 

In 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board released Revenue from 

Contracts with Customers (Topic 606). The accounting standards update outlined new 

guidance on how companies must report revenue. The guidance requires an entity 

recognize revenue in accordance with five steps: 

1. Identify the contract with the customer. 

2. Identify the performance obligation in the contract. 

3. Determine the contract price. 

4. Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligation(s) in the 

contract. 
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5. Recognize revenue when the entity satisfies a performance obligation.2 

Government Revenue 

In the case of government, revenue is the money received from taxation, fees, 

fines, inter-governmental grants or transfers, securities sales, mineral or resource 

rights, as well as any sales made. Governments collect revenue from citizens within its 

district and collections from other government entities. 

Nonprofit Revenue 

For nonprofits, revenues are its gross receipts. Its components include 

donations from individuals, foundations, and companies, grants from government 

entities, investments, and/or membership fees. Nonprofit revenue may be earned via 

fundraising events or unsolicited donations. 

Real Estate Revenue 

In terms of real estate investments, revenue refers to the income generated by a 

property, such as rent or parking fees or rent. When the operating expenses incurred in 

running the property are subtracted from property income, the resulting value is net 

operating income (NOI). Vacant real estate technically does not earn any operating 

revenue, though the owner of the property may be required to report fair market value 

adjustments that result in gains when externally reporting their finances. 

What Does Revenue in Business Mean? 

Revenue is the money earned by a company obtained primarily from the sale of 

its products or services to customers. There are specific accounting rules that dictate 

when, how, and why a company recognizes revenue. For instance, a company may 

receive cash from a client. However, a company may not be able to recognize revenue 

until they've performed their part of the contractual obligation. 

Are Revenue and Cash Flow the Same Thing? 

No. Revenue is the money a company earns from the sale of its products and 

services. Cash flow is the net amount of cash being transferred into and out of a 

company. Revenue provides a measure of the effectiveness of a company's sales and 

marketing, whereas cash flow is more of a liquidity indicator.  Both revenue and cash 

flow should be analyzed together for a comprehensive review of a company's financial 

health. 

What Is the Difference Between Revenue and Income? 

Revenue and income are sometimes used interchangeably. However, these two 

terms do usually mean different things. Revenue is often used to measure the total 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/n/noi.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/n/noi.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/l/liquidity.asp
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amount of sales a company from its goods and services. Income is often used to 

incorporate expenses and report the net proceeds a company has earned. 

How Does One Generate and Calculate Revenue? 

For many companies, revenues are generated from the sales of products or 

services. For this reason, revenue is sometimes known as gross sales. Revenue can 

also be earned via other sources. Inventors or entertainers may receive revenue from 

licensing, patents, or royalties. Real estate investors might earn revenue from rental 

income. 

Revenue for federal and local governments would likely be in the form of tax 

receipts from property or income taxes. Governments might also earn revenue from the 

sale of an asset or interest income from a bond. Charities and non-profit organizations 

usually receive income from donations and grants. Universities could earn revenue 

from charging tuition but also from investment gains on their endowment fund. 

What Is Accrued and Deferred Revenue? 

Accrued revenue is the revenue earned by a company for the delivery of goods 

or services that have yet to be paid by the customer. In accrual accounting, revenue is 

reported at the time a sales transaction takes place and may not necessarily represent 

cash in hand. 

Deferred, or unearned revenue can be thought of as the opposite of accrued 

revenue, in that unearned revenue accounts for money prepaid by a customer for 

goods or services that have yet to be delivered. If a company has received prepayment 

for its goods, it would recognize the revenue as unearned, but would not recognize the 

revenue on its income statement until the period for which the goods or services were 

delivered. 

 

What Is an Expense? 

An expense is the cost of operations that a company incurs to generate revenue. 

It is simply defined as the cost one is required to spend on obtaining something. As the 

popular saying goes, “it costs money to make money.” 

Common expenses include payments to suppliers, employee wages, factory 

leases, and equipment depreciation. Businesses are allowed to write off tax-deductible 

expenses on their income tax returns to lower their taxable income and thus their tax 

liability; however, the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) has strict rules on which 

expenses businesses are allowed to claim as a deduction. 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/g/grosssales.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/d/depreciation.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/t/taxableincome.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/i/irs.asp
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REMEMBER: 

 An expense is the cost of operations that a company incurs to generate 

revenue. 

 Businesses can write off tax-deductible expenses on their income tax 

returns, provided that they meet the IRS’ guidelines. 

 Accountants record expenses through one of two accounting methods: 

cash basis or accrual basis. 

 There are two main categories of business expenses in accounting: 

operating expenses and non-operating expenses. 

 The IRS treats capital expenses differently than most other business 

expenses. 

Understanding Expenses 

One of the main goals of company management teams is to maximize profits. 

This is achieved by boosting revenues while keeping expenses in check. Slashing 

costs can help companies to make even more money from sales. 

However, if expenses are cut too much it could also have a detrimental effect. 

For example, paying less on advertising reduces costs but also lowers the company’s 

visibility and ability to reach out to potential customers. 

How Expenses Are Recorded 

Companies break down their revenues and expenses in their income 

statements. Accountants record expenses through one of two accounting methods: 

cash basis or accrual basis. Under cash basis accounting, expenses are recorded 

when they are paid. In contrast, under the accrual method, expenses are recorded 

when they are incurred. 

For example, if a business owner schedules a carpet cleaner to clean the 

carpets in the office, a company using the cash basis records the expense when it 

pays the invoice. Under the accrual method, the business accountant would record the 

carpet cleaning expense when the company receives the service. Expenses are 

generally recorded on an accrual basis, ensuring that they match up with the revenues 

reported in accounting periods. 

Expenses are used to calculate net income. The equation to calculate net 

income is revenues minus expenses. 

Types of Business Expenses 

There are two main categories of business expenses in accounting:  

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/i/incomestatement.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/i/incomestatement.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/n/netincome.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/n/netincome.asp
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Operating Expenses 

Operating expenses are the expenses related to the company’s main activities, 

such as the cost of goods sold, administrative fees, office supplies, direct labor, and 

rent. These are the expenses that are incurred from normal, day-to-day activities. 

Operating expense is deducted from revenue to arrive at operating income; the 

amount of profit a company earns from its direct business activities. Companies need 

to manage their operating expenses to ensure that they are maximizing profits; this is 

usually done by keeping expenses at a minimum; however, reducing expenses too 

much can reduce the company's productivity. 

Non-operating Expenses 

Non-operating expenses are not directly related to the business's core 

operations. Common examples include interest charges and other costs associated 

with borrowing money. These are expenses that occur outside of a company's day-to-

day activities. These costs may occur from restructuring, reorganizing, interest charges 

on debt, or on obsolete inventory. 

Non-operating expenses are separate from operating expenses from an 

accounting perspective so as to be able to determine how much a company earns from 

its core activities. 

Special Considerations 

Capital Expenses 

Capital expenditures, commonly known as CapEx, are funds used by a company 

to acquire, upgrade, and maintain physical assets such as property, buildings, an 

industrial plant, technology, or equipment. 

The IRS treats capital expenses differently than most other business expenses. 

While most costs of doing business can be expensed or written off against business 

income the year they are incurred, capital expenses must be capitalized or written off 

slowly over time.1 

The IRS has a schedule that dictates the portion of a capital asset a business 

may write off each year until the entire expense is claimed. The number of years over 

which a business writes off a capital expense varies based on the type of asset. 

Not All Expenses Can Be Deducted 

According to the IRS, to be deductible, a business expense "must be both 

ordinary and necessary." Ordinary means the expense is common or accepted in that 

industry, while necessary means the expense is helpful in the pursuit of earning 

income. Business owners are not allowed to claim their personal, non-business 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/o/operating-cost.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/n/non-operating-expense.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/c/capitalexpenditure.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/ask/answers/042415/what-difference-between-operating-expense-and-capital-expense.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/c/capitalization.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/d/deductible.asp
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expenses as business deductions. They also cannot claim lobbying expenses, 

penalties, and fines.2 

Investors can refer to Publication 535, Business Expenses on the IRS website 

for more information.2 

What Are Examples of Expenses? 

Examples of expenses include rent, utilities, wages, salaries, maintenance, 

depreciation, insurance, and the cost of goods sold. Expenses are usually recurring 

payments needed to operate a business. 

What Are the Types of Expenses? 

Expenses can be categorized in a variety of ways. Expenses can be defined as 

fixed expenses, such as rent or mortgage; those that do not change with the change in 

production. Expenses can also be defined as variable expenses; those that change 

with the change in production. These include utilities and the cost of goods sold. 

Expenses can also be categorized as operating and non-operating expenses. The 

former are the expenses directly related to operating the company, and the latter is 

indirectly related. 

Is Salary Considered an Expense? 

Yes, salary is considered an expense and is reported as such on a company's 

income statement. 

The Bottom Line 

An expense is a cost that businesses incur in running their operations. Expenses 

include wages, salaries, maintenance, rent, and depreciation. Expenses are deducted 

from revenue to arrive at profits. Businesses are allowed to deduct certain expenses 

from taxes to help alleviate the tax burden and bulk up profits. 

Liabilities vs. Expenses 

An expense is the cost of operations that a company incurs to generate revenue. 

Unlike assets and liabilities, expenses are related to revenue, and both are listed on a 

company's income statement. In short, expenses are used to calculate net income. The 

equation to calculate net income is revenues minus expenses. 

For example, if a company has more expenses than revenues for the past three 

years, it may signal weak financial stability because it has been losing money for those 

years. 

Expenses and liabilities should not be confused with each other. One is listed on 

a company's balance sheet, and the other is listed on the company's income 

statement. Expenses are the costs of a company's operation, while liabilities are the 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/e/expense.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/n/netincome.asp
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obligations and debts a company owes. Expenses can be paid immediately with cash, 

or the payment could be delayed which would create a liability. 

Example of Liabilities 

As a practical example of understanding a firm's liabilities, let's look at a 

historical example using AT&T's (T) 2020 balance sheet.1 The current/short-term 

liabilities are separated from long-term/non-current liabilities on the balance sheet. 

 

 

 

AT&T clearly defines its bank debt that is maturing in less than one year under current 

liabilities. For a company this size, this is often used as operating capital for day-to-day 

operations rather than funding larger items, which would be better suited using long-

term debt. 

Like most assets, liabilities are carried at cost, not market value, and 

under generally accepted accounting principle (GAAP) rules can be listed in order of 

preference as long as they are categorized. The AT&T example has a relatively high 

https://www.investopedia.com/markets/quote?tvwidgetsymbol=t
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/g/gaap.asp
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debt level under current liabilities. With smaller companies, other line items like 

accounts payable (AP) and various future liabilities like payroll, taxes will be higher 

current debt obligations. 

AP typically carries the largest balances, as they encompass the day-to-day 

operations. AP can include services, raw materials, office supplies, or any other 

categories of products and services where no promissory note is issued. Since most 

companies do not pay for goods and services as they are acquired, AP is equivalent to 

a stack of bills waiting to be paid. 

How Do I Know If Something Is a Liability? 

A liability is something that is borrowed from, owed to, or obligated to someone 

else. It can be real (e.g. a bill that needs to be paid) or potential (e.g. a possible 

lawsuit). 

A liability is not necessarily a bad thing. For instance, a company may take out 

debt (a liability) in order to expand and grow its business. Or, an individual may take 

out a mortgage to purchase a home. 

How Are Current Liabilities Different From Long-Term (Noncurrent) Ones? 

Companies will segregate their liabilities by their time horizon for when they are 

due. Current liabilities are due within a year and are often paid for using current assets. 

Non-current liabilities are due in more than one year and most often include debt 

repayments and deferred payments. 

How Do Liabilities Relate to Assets and Equity? 

The accounting equation states that—assets = liabilities + equity. As a result, we 

can re-arrange the formula to read liabilities = assets - equity. Thus, the value of a 

firm's total liabilities will equal the difference between the values of total assets and 

shareholders' equity. If a firm takes on more liabilities without accumulating additional 

assets, it must result in a reduction in the value of the firm's equity position. 

What Is a Contingent Liability? 

A contingent liability is an obligation that might have to be paid in the future, but 

there are still unresolved matters that make it only a possibility and not a 

certainty. Lawsuits and the threat of lawsuits are the most common contingent 

liabilities, but unused gift cards, product warranties, and recalls also fit into this 

category. 

What Are Examples of Liabilities That Individuals or Households Have? 

Like businesses, an individual's or household's net worth is taken by balancing 

assets against liabilities. For most households, liabilities will include taxes due, bills 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/p/payroll.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/r/rawmaterials.asp
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that must be paid, rent or mortgage payments, loan interest and principal due, and so 

on. If you are pre-paid for performing work or a service, the work owed may also be 

construed as a liability. 

 

What Is Equity? 

Equity, typically referred to as shareholders' equity (or owners' equity for 

privately held companies), represents the amount of money that would be returned to a 

company's shareholders if all of the assets were liquidated and all of the company's 

debt was paid off in the case of liquidation. In the case of acquisition, it is the value of 

company sales minus any liabilities owed by the company not transferred with the sale. 

In addition, shareholder equity can represent the book value of a company. 

Equity can sometimes be offered as payment-in-kind. It also represents the pro-rata 

ownership of a company's shares. 

Equity can be found on a company's balance sheet and is one of the most 

common pieces of data employed by analysts to assess a company's financial health. 

REMEMBER: 

  Equity represents the value that would be returned to a company’s 

shareholders if all of the assets were liquidated and all of the company's debts were 

paid off. 

 We can also think of equity as a degree of residual ownership in a firm or 

asset after subtracting all debts associated with that asset. 

 Equity represents the shareholders’ stake in the company, identified on a 

company's balance sheet. 

 The calculation of equity is a company's total assets minus its total 

liabilities, and it's used in several key financial ratios such as ROE. 

 Home equity is the value of a homeowner's property (net of debt) and is 

another way the term equity is used. 

 By comparing concrete numbers reflecting everything the company owns and 

everything it owes, the "assets-minus-liabilities" shareholder equity equation paints a 

clear picture of a company's finances, easily interpreted by investors and analysts. 

Equity is used as capital raised by a company, which is then used to purchase assets, 

invest in projects, and fund operations. A firm typically can raise capital by issuing debt 

(in the form of a loan or via bonds) or equity (by selling stock). Investors usually seek 

out equity investments as it provides a greater opportunity to share in the profits and 

growth of a firm. 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/p/paymentinkind.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/b/balancesheet.asp
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Equity is important because it represents the value of an investor's stake in a 

company, represented by the proportion of its shares. Owning stock in a company 

gives shareholders the potential for capital gains and dividends. Owning equity will also 

give shareholders the right to vote on corporate actions and elections for the board of 

directors. These equity ownership benefits promote shareholders' ongoing interest in 

the company. 

Shareholder equity can be either negative or positive. If positive, the company 

has enough assets to cover its liabilities. If negative, the company's liabilities exceed its 

assets; if prolonged, this is considered balance sheet insolvency. Typically, investors 

view companies with negative shareholder equity as risky or unsafe investments. 

Shareholder equity alone is not a definitive indicator of a company's financial health; 

used in conjunction with other tools and metrics, the investor can accurately analyze 

the health of an organization. 

Formula and How to Calculate Shareholders' Equity 

The following formula and calculation can be used to determine the equity of a 

firm, which is derived from the accounting equation: 

Equity=Total Assets−Total Liabilities 

This information can be found on the balance sheet, where these four steps 

should be followed: 

1. Locate the company's total assets on the balance sheet for the period. 

2. Locate total liabilities, which should be listed separately on the balance 

sheet. 

3. Subtract total liabilities from total assets to arrive at shareholder equity. 

4. Note that total assets will equal the sum of liabilities and total equity. 

Shareholder equity can also be expressed as a company's share capital 

and retained earnings less the value of treasury shares. This method, however, is less 

common. Though both methods yield the exact figure, the use of total assets and total 

liabilities is more illustrative of a company's financial health. 

What the Components of Shareholder Equity Are 

Retained earnings are part of shareholder equity and are the percentage of net 

earnings that were not paid to shareholders as dividends. Think of retained earnings as 

savings since it represents a cumulative total of profits that have been saved and put 

aside or retained for future use. Retained earnings grow larger over time as the 

company continues to reinvest a portion of its income. 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/o/ordinary-dividends.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/ask/answers/08/negative-shareholder-equity.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/a/accounting-equation.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/r/retainedearnings.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/t/treasurystock.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/p/profits-interest.asp
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At some point, the amount of accumulated retained earnings can exceed the 

amount of equity capital contributed by stockholders. Retained earnings are usually the 

largest component of stockholders' equity for companies operating for many years. 

Treasury shares or stock (not to be confused with U.S. Treasury bills) represent 

stock that the company has bought back from existing shareholders. Companies may 

do a repurchase when management cannot deploy all of the available equity capital in 

ways that might deliver the best returns. Shares bought back by companies become 

treasury shares, and the dollar value is noted in an account called treasury stock, 

a contra account to the accounts of investor capital and retained earnings. Companies 

can reissue treasury shares back to stockholders when companies need to raise 

money. 

Many view stockholders' equity as representing a company's net assets—its net 

value, so to speak, would be the amount shareholders would receive if the company 

liquidated all of its assets and repaid all of its debts. 

Example of Shareholder Equity 

Using a historical example below is a portion of Exxon Mobil 

Corporation's (XOM) balance sheet as of September 30, 2018: 

 Total assets were $354,628. 

 Total liabilities were $157,797. 

 Total equity was $196,831.1 

The accounting equation whereby Assets = Liabilities + Shareholder Equity is 

calculated as follows: 

Shareholder Equity = $354,628, (Total Assets) - $157,797 (Total Liabilities) = 

$196,8311 

 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/c/contraaccount.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/markets/quote?tvwidgetsymbol=xom
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 Other Forms of Equity 

The concept of equity has applications beyond just evaluating companies. We 

can more generally think of equity as a degree of ownership in any asset after 

subtracting all debts associated with that asset. 

Below are several common variations on equity: 

 A stock or any other security representing an ownership interest in a 

company. 

 On a company's balance sheet, the amount of funds contributed by the 

owners or shareholders plus the retained earnings (or losses). One may also call 

this stockholders' equity or shareholders' equity. 

 The value of securities in a margin account minus what the account 

holder borrowed from the brokerage in margin trading. 

 In real estate, the difference between the property's current fair market 

value and the amount the owner still owes on the mortgage. It is the amount that the 

https://www.investopedia.com/articles/active-trading/083115/4-signs-penny-stock-worth-millions.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/f/fairmarketvalue.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/f/fairmarketvalue.asp
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owner would receive after selling a property and paying any liens. Also referred to as 

"real property value." 

 When a business goes bankrupt and has to liquidate, equity is the amount 

of money remaining after the business repays its creditors. This is often called 

"ownership equity," also known as risk capital or "liable capital." 

Private Equity  

When an investment is publicly traded, the market value of equity is readily 

available by looking at the company's share price and its market capitalization. For 

private entities, the market mechanism does not exist, so other valuation forms must 

be done to estimate value. 

Private equity generally refers to such an evaluation of companies that are not 

publicly traded. The accounting equation still applies where stated equity on the 

balance sheet is what is left over when subtracting liabilities from assets, arriving at an 

estimate of book value. Privately held companies can then seek investors by selling off 

shares directly in private placements. These private equity investors can include 

institutions like pension funds, university endowments, insurance companies, or 

accredited individuals. 

Private equity is often sold to funds and investors that specialize in direct 

investments in private companies or that engage in leveraged buyouts (LBOs) of public 

companies. In an LBO transaction, a company receives a loan from a private equity 

firm to fund the acquisition of a division of another company. Cash flows or the assets 

of the company being acquired usually secure the loan. Mezzanine debt is a private 

loan, usually provided by a commercial bank or a mezzanine venture capital firm. 

Mezzanine transactions often involve a mix of debt and equity in a subordinated loan or 

warrants, common stock, or preferred stock. 

Private equity comes into play at different points along a company's life cycle. 

Typically, a young company with no revenue or earnings can't afford to borrow, so it 

must get capital from friends and family or individual "angel investors." Venture 

capitalists enter the picture when the company has finally created its product or service 

and is ready to bring it to market. Some of the largest, most successful corporations in 

the tech sector, like Google, Apple, Amazon, and Meta—or what is referred to 

as GAFAM—began with venture capital funding. 

Types of Private Equity Financing 

Venture capitalists (VCs) provide most private equity financing in return for an 

early minority stake. Sometimes, a venture capitalist will take a seat on the board of 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/r/real-property.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/l/liquidate.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/ask/answers/033015/what-difference-between-paidup-capital-and-share-capital.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/m/market-value-of-equity.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/investing/market-capitalization-defined/
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/p/privateequity.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/b/bookvalue.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/l/leveragedbuyout.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/a/angelinvestor.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/g/gafam-stocks.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/v/venturecapitalist.asp
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directors for its portfolio companies, ensuring an active role in guiding the company. 

Venture capitalists look to hit big early on and exit investments within five to seven 

years. An LBO is one of the most common types of private equity financing and might 

occur as a company matures. 

A final type of private equity is a Private Investment in a Public Company (PIPE). 

A PIPE is a private investment firm's, a mutual fund's, or another qualified investors' 

purchase of stock in a company at a discount to the current market value (CMV) per 

share to raise capital. 

Unlike shareholder equity, private equity is not accessible to the average 

individual. Only "accredited" investors, those with a net worth of at least $1 million, can 

take part in private equity or venture capital partnerships. Such endeavors might 

require form 4, depending on their scale.2 For investors who don't meet this marker, 

there is the option of private equity exchange-traded funds (ETFs). 

Home Equity  

Home equity is roughly comparable to the value contained in homeownership. 

The amount of equity one has in their residence represents how much of the home 

they own outright by subtracting from the mortgage debt owed. Equity on a property or 

home stems from payments made against a mortgage, including a down payment and 

increases in property value. 

Home equity is often an individual’s greatest source of collateral, and the owner 

can use it to get a home equity loan, which some call a second mortgage or a home 

equity line of credit (HELOC). An equity takeout is taking money out of a property or 

borrowing money against it. 

For example, let’s say Sam owns a home with a mortgage on it. The house has 

a current market value of $175,000, and the mortgage owed totals $100,000. Sam has 

$75,000 worth of equity in the home or $175,000 (asset total) - $100,000 (liability total). 

Brand Equity  

When determining an asset's equity, particularly for larger corporations, it is 

important to note these assets may include both tangible assets, like property, and 

intangible assets, like the company's reputation and brand identity. Through years of 

advertising and the development of a customer base, a company's brand can come to 

have an inherent value. Some call this value "brand equity," which measures the value 

of a brand relative to a generic or store-brand version of a product. 

For example, many soft-drink lovers will reach for a Coke before buying a store-

brand cola because they prefer the taste or are more familiar with the flavor. If a 2-liter 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/p/pipe.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/f/form4.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/articles/investing/081215/top-3-private-equity-etfs.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/h/home_equity.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/s/secondmortgage.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/mortgage/heloc/
https://www.investopedia.com/mortgage/heloc/
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/b/brandequity.asp
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bottle of store-brand cola costs $1 and a 2-liter bottle of Coke costs $2, then Coca-Cola 

has brand equity of $1. 

There is also such a thing as negative brand equity, which is when people will 

pay more for a generic or store-brand product than they will for a particular brand 

name. Negative brand equity is rare and can occur because of bad publicity, such as 

a product recall or a disaster. 

Equity vs. Return on Equity 

Return on equity (ROE) is a measure of financial performance calculated by 

dividing net income by shareholder equity. Because shareholder equity is equal to a 

company’s assets minus its debt, ROE could be considered the return on net assets. 

ROE is considered a measure of how effectively management uses a company’s 

assets to create profits. 

Equity, as we have seen, has various meanings but usually represents 

ownership in an asset or a company, such as stockholders owning equity in a 

company. ROE is a financial metric that measures how much profit is generated from a 

company’s shareholder equity. 

What Is Equity in Finance? 

Equity is an important concept in finance that has different specific meanings 

depending on the context. Perhaps the most common type of equity is “shareholders’ 

equity," which is calculated by taking a company’s total assets and subtracting its total 

liabilities. 

Shareholders’ equity is, therefore, essentially the net worth of a corporation. If 

the company were to liquidate, shareholders’ equity is the amount of money that would 

theoretically be received by its shareholders. 

What Are Some Other Terms Used to Describe Equity? 

Other terms that are sometimes used to describe this concept include 

shareholders’ equity, book value, and net asset value. Depending on the context, the 

precise meanings of these terms may differ, but generally speaking, they refer to the 

value of an investment that would be left over after paying off all of the liabilities 

associated with that investment. This term is also used in real estate investing to refer 

to the difference between a property’s fair market value and the outstanding value of its 

mortgage loan. 

How Is Equity Used by Investors? 

Equity is a very important concept for investors. For instance, in looking at a 

company, an investor might use shareholders’ equity as a benchmark for determining 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/p/product_recall.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/r/returnonequity.asp
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whether a particular purchase price is expensive. If that company has historically 

traded at a price to book value of 1.5, for instance, then an investor might think twice 

before paying more than that valuation unless they feel the company’s prospects have 

fundamentally improved. On the other hand, an investor might feel comfortable buying 

shares in a relatively weak business as long as the price they pay is sufficiently low 

relative to its equity. 

How Is Equity Calculated? 

Equity is equal to total assets minus its total liabilities. These figures can all be 

found on a company's balance sheet for a company. For a homeowner, equity would 

be the value of the home less any outstanding mortgage debt or liens. 

 

Income Statement 

Unlike the balance sheet, the income statement covers a range of time, which is 

a year for annual financial statements and a quarter for quarterly financial statements. 

The income statement provides an overview of revenues, expenses, net income, and 

earnings per share. 

Revenue 

Operating revenue is the revenue earned by selling a company's products or 

services. The operating revenue for an auto manufacturer would be realized through 

the production and sale of autos. Operating revenue is generated from the core 

business activities of a company. 

Non-operating revenue is the income earned from non-core business activities. 

These revenues fall outside the primary function of the business. Some non-operating 

revenue examples include: 

 Interest earned on cash in the bank 

 Rental income from a property 

 Income from strategic partnerships like royalty payment receipts 

 Income from an advertisement display located on the company's property 

Other income is the revenue earned from other activities. Other income could 

include gains from the sale of long-term assets such as land, vehicles, or a subsidiary. 

Expenses 

Primary expenses are incurred during the process of earning revenue from the 

primary activity of the business. Expenses include the cost of goods 

sold (COGS), selling, general and administrative expenses 

(SG&A), depreciation or amortization, and research and development (R&D). 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/o/operating-revenue.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/c/cogs.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/c/cogs.asp
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Typical expenses include employee wages, sales commissions, and utilities 

such as electricity and transportation. 

Expenses that are linked to secondary activities include interest paid on loans or 

debt. Losses from the sale of an asset are also recorded as expenses. 

The main purpose of the income statement is to convey details of profitability 

and the financial results of business activities; however, it can be very effective in 

showing whether sales or revenue is increasing when compared over multiple periods. 

Investors can also see how well a company's management is controlling 

expenses to determine whether a company's efforts in reducing the cost of sales might 

boost profits over time. 

Example of an Income Statement 

Below is a portion of ExxonMobil Corporation's income statement for fiscal-year 

2021, reported as of Dec. 31, 2021. 

 Total revenue was $276.7 billion. 

 Total costs were $254.4 billion. 

 Net income or profit was $23 billion.2 
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Income Statement: How to Read and Use It 

An income statement is one of the three important financial statements used for 

reporting a company’s financial performance over a specific accounting period. The 

other two key statements are the balance sheet and the cash flow statement. 

The income statement focuses on the revenue, expenses, gains, and losses of a 

company during a particular period. Also known as the profit and loss (P&L) 

statement or the statement of revenue and expense, an income statement provides 

valuable insights into a company’s operations, the efficiency of its management, 

underperforming sectors, and its performance relative to industry peers. 

REMEMBER: 

  An income statement is one of the three major financial statements, 

along with the balance sheet and the cash flow statement, that report a company’s 

financial performance over a specific accounting period. 

 The income statement focuses on the revenue, expenses, gains, and 

losses of a company during a particular period. 

 An income statement provides valuable insights into a company’s 

operations, the efficiency of its management, underperforming sectors, and its 

performance relative to industry peers. 

Understanding the Income Statement 

The income statement is an integral part of the company performance reports 

that must be submitted to the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). While 

a balance sheet provides the snapshot of a company’s financials as of a particular 

date, the income statement reports income through a specific period, usually a quarter 

or a year, and its heading indicates the duration, which may read as “For the (fiscal) 

year/quarter ended June 30, 2021.” 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/f/financial-statements.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/f/financialperformance.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/b/balancesheet.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/c/cashflowstatement.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/p/plstatement.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/p/plstatement.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/s/sec.asp
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 The income statement 

focuses on four key items: revenue, expenses, gains, and losses. It does not 

differentiate between cash and non-cash receipts (sales in cash vs. sales on credit) or 

cash vs. non-cash payments/disbursements (purchases in cash vs. purchases on 

credit). It starts with the details of sales and then works down to compute net 

income and eventually earnings per share (EPS). Essentially, it gives an account of 

how the net revenue realized by the company gets transformed into net earnings (profit 

or loss).1 

Revenue and Gains 

The following are covered in the income statement, though its format may vary, 

depending upon the local regulatory requirements, the diversified scope of the 

business, and the associated operating activities: 

Operating Revenue 

Revenue realized through primary activities is often referred to as operating 

revenue. For a company manufacturing a product, or for a wholesaler, distributor, or 

retailer involved in the business of selling that product, the revenue from primary 

activities refers to revenue achieved from the sale of the product. Similarly, for a 

company (or its franchisees) in the business of offering services, revenue from primary 

activities refers to the revenue or fees earned in exchange for offering those services. 

Non-Operating Revenue 

Revenue realized through secondary, noncore business activities is often 

referred to as nonoperating, recurring revenue. This revenue is sourced from the 

earnings that are outside the purchase and sale of goods and services and may 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/s/sale.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/n/netincome.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/n/netincome.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/e/eps.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/ask/answers/102714/what-are-difference-between-gross-revenue-reporting-and-net-revenue-reporting.asp#:~:text=Net%20revenue%20%28or%20net%20sales,or%20allowances%20from%20gross%20revenue.
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/n/netincome.asp#:~:text=Net%20income%20%28NI%29%2C%20also,the%20expenses%20of%20an%20organization.
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/o/operating-revenue.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/o/operating-revenue.asp
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include income from interest earned on business capital parked in the bank, rental 

income from business property, income from strategic partnerships like royalty 

payment receipts, or income from an advertisement display placed on business 

property. 

Gains 

Also called other income, gains indicate the net money made from other 

activities, like the sale of long-term assets. These include the net income realized from 

one-time nonbusiness activities, such as a company selling its old transportation van, 

unused land, or a subsidiary company. 

Revenue should not be confused with receipts. Payment is usually accounted for 

in the period when sales are made or services are delivered. Receipts are the cash 

received and are accounted for when the money is received. 

A customer may take goods/services from a company on Sept. 28, which will 

lead to the revenue accounted for in September. The customer may be given a 30-day 

payment window due to his excellent credit and reputation, allowing until Oct. 28 to 

make the payment, which is when the receipts are accounted for. 

Expenses and Losses 

A business's cost to continue operating and turning a profit is known as an 

expense. Some of these expenses may be written off on a tax return if they meet 

Internal Revenue Service (IRS) guidelines. 

Primary-Activity Expenses 

These are all expenses incurred for earning the average operating revenue 

linked to the primary activity of the business. They include the cost of goods 

sold (COGS); selling, general, and administrative (SG&A) 

expenses; depreciation or amortization; and research and development (R&D) 

expenses. Typical items that make up the list are employee wages, sales commissions, 

and expenses for utilities such as electricity and transportation. 

Secondary-Activity Expenses 

These are all expenses linked to noncore business activities, like interest paid 

on loan money. 

Losses as Expenses 

These are all expenses that go toward a loss-making sale of long-term assets, 

one-time or any other unusual costs, or expenses toward lawsuits. 

While primary revenue and expenses offer insights into how well the company’s 

core business is performing, the secondary revenue and fees account for the 

https://www.investopedia.com/ask/answers/052815/how-are-prepaid-expenses-recorded-income-statement.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/c/cogs.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/c/cogs.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/s/sga.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/d/depreciation.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/a/amortization.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/r/randd.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/i/interest.asp
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company’s involvement and expertise in managing ad hoc, non-core activities. 

Compared with the income from the sale of manufactured goods, a substantially high-

interest income from money lying in the bank indicates that the business may not be 

using the available cash to its full potential by expanding the production capacity, or 

that it is facing challenges in increasing its market share amid competition. 

Recurring rental income gained by hosting billboards at the company factory 

along a highway indicates that management is capitalizing upon the available 

resources and assets for additional profitability. 

Income Statement Structure 

Mathematically, net income is calculated based on the following: 

Net Income = (Revenue + Gains) - (Expenses + Losses) 

To understand the above formula with some real numbers, let’s assume that a 

fictitious sports merchandise business, which additionally provides training, is reporting 

its income statement for a recent hypothetical quarter. 

  

It received $25,800 from the sale of sports goods and $5,000 from training 

services. It spent various amounts listed for the given activities that total of $10,650. It 

realized net gains of $2,000 from the sale of an old van, and it incurred losses worth 

$800 for settling a dispute raised by a consumer. The net income comes to $21,350 for 

the given quarter. The above example is the simplest form of income statement that 
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any standard business can generate. It is called the single-step income statement as it 

is based on a simple calculation that sums up revenue and gains and subtracts 

expenses and losses. 

However, real-world companies often operate on a global scale, have diversified 

business segments offering a mix of products and services, and frequently get involved 

in mergers, acquisitions, and strategic partnerships. Such a wide array of operations, 

diversified set of expenses, various business activities, and the need for reporting in a 

standard format per regulatory compliance leads to multiple and complex accounting 

entries in the income statement. 

Listed companies follow the multiple-step income statement, which segregates 

the operating revenue, operating expenses, and gains from the nonoperating revenue, 

nonoperating expenses, and losses, and offers many more details through the income 

statement produced this way. 

Essentially, the different measures of profitability in a multiple-step income 

statement are reported at four different levels in a business's operations: gross, 

operating, pretax, and after-tax. As we’ll see shortly in the following example, this 

segregation helps in identifying how the income and profitability are moving/changing 

from one level to the other. For instance, high gross profit but lower operating income 

indicates higher expenses, while higher pretax profit and lower post-tax profit indicate 

loss of earnings to taxes and other one-time, unusual expenses. 

Let’s look at an example based on the 2021 annual income statements of two 

large, publicly listed, multinational companies from different sectors: technology 

(Microsoft) and retail (Walmart). 

Reading Income Statements 

The focus in this standard format is to calculate the profit/income at each 

subhead of revenue and operating expenses and then account for mandatory taxes, 

interest, and other nonrecurring, one-time events to arrive at the net income that 

applies to common stock. Though calculations involve simple additions and 

subtractions, the order in which the various entries appear in the statement and their 

relationships often get repetitive and complicated. Let’s take a deep dive into these 

numbers for a better understanding. 

Revenue Section 

The first section, titled Revenue, indicates that Microsoft’s gross (annual) profit, 

or gross margin, for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2021, was $115.86 billion. It was 

arrived at by deducting the cost of revenue ($52.23 billion) from the total revenue 

https://www.investopedia.com/ask/answers/102714/what-are-main-differences-between-single-step-and-multiple-step-income-statements.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/m/merger.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/a/acquisition.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/ask/answers/102714/what-are-main-differences-between-single-step-and-multiple-step-income-statements.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/g/grossprofit.asp
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($168.09 billion) realized by the technology giant during this fiscal year. Just over 30% 

of Microsoft’s total sales went toward costs for revenue generation, while a similar 

figure for Walmart in its fiscal year 2021 was about 75% ($429 billion/$572.75 

billion).23 It indicates that Walmart incurred much higher cost than Microsoft to 

generate equivalent sales. 

Operating Expenses 

The next section, called Operating Expenses, again takes into account 

Microsoft’s cost of revenue ($52.23 billion) and total revenue ($168.09 billion) for the 

fiscal year to arrive at the reported figures. As Microsoft spent $20.72 billion on R&D 

and $25.23 billion on SG&A expenses, total operating expenses are computed by 

summing all these figures ($52.23 billion + $20.72 billion + $25.23 billion = $98.18 

billion). 

Reducing total operating expenses from total revenue leads to operating income 

(or loss) of $69.92 billion ($168.09 billion - $98.18 billion).2 This figure represents 

the earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) for its core business activities and is 

again used later to derive the net income. 

A comparison of the line items indicates that Walmart did not spend anything on 

R&D and had higher SG&A and total operating expenses than Microsoft. 

Income From Continuing Operations 

The next section, titled Income from Continuing Operations, adds net other 

income or expenses (like one-time earnings), interest-linked expenses, and applicable 

taxes to arrive at the net income from continuing operations ($61.27 billion) for 

Microsoft, which is nearly 60% higher than that of Walmart ($13.67 billion).23 

After discounting for any nonrecurring events, it’s possible to arrive at the value 

of net income applicable to common shares. Microsoft had a much higher net income 

of $61.27 billion compared with Walmart’s $13.67 billion.23 

Earnings per share are computed by dividing the net income figure by the 

number of weighted average shares outstanding. With 7.55 billion outstanding shares 

for Microsoft, its 2021 EPS came to $8.12 per share ($61.27 billion ÷ 7.55 

billion).2 With Walmart having 2.79 billion outstanding shares that fiscal year, its EPS 

came to $4.90 per share ($13.67 billion ÷ 2.79 billion).3 

Microsoft had a lower cost for generating equivalent revenue, higher net income 

from continuing operations, and higher net income applicable to common shares 

compared with Walmart. 

Uses of Income Statements 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/e/ebit.asp
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Though the primary purpose of an income statement is to convey details of 

profitability and business activities of the company to the stakeholders, it also provides 

detailed insights into the company’s internal activities for comparison across different 

businesses and sectors. By understanding the income and expense components of the 

statement, an investor can appreciate what makes a company profitable.4 

Based on income statements, management can make decisions like expanding 

to new geographies, pushing sales, expanding production capacity, increasing the use 

of or the outright sale of assets, or shutting down a department or product line. 

Competitors also may use them to gain insights about the success parameters of a 

company and focus areas such as lifting R&D spending. 

Creditors may find income statements of limited use, as they are more 

concerned about a company’s future cash flows than its past profitability. Research 

analysts use the income statement to compare year-on-year and quarter-on-

quarter performance. One can infer, for example, whether a company’s efforts at 

reducing the cost of sales helped it improve profits over time, or whether management 

kept tabs on operating expenses without compromising on profitability. 

What Are the Four Key Elements of an Income Statement? 

(1) Revenue, (2) expenses, (3) gains, and (4) losses. An income statement is 

not a balance sheet or a cash flow statement. 

What Is the Difference Between Operating Revenue and Non-Operating 

Revenue? 

Operating revenue is realized through a business' primary activity, such as 

selling its products. Non-operating revenue comes from ancillary sources such as 

interest income from capital held in a bank or income from rental of business property.  

What Insights Should You Look for in an Income Statement? 

The income and expense components can help an investor learn what makes a 

company profitable (or not). Competitors can use them to measure how their company 

compares on various measures. Research analysts use them to compare performance 

year-on-year and quarter-on-quarter. 

The Bottom Line 

An income statement provides valuable insights into various aspects of a 

business. It includes readings on a company’s operations, the efficiency of its 

management, the possible leaky areas that may be eroding profits, and whether the 

company is performing in line with industry peers. 
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Cash Flow Statement 

The cash flow statement (CFS) measures how well a company generates cash 

to pay its debt obligations, fund its operating expenses, and fund investments. The 

cash flow statement complements the balance sheet and income statement. 

The CFS allows investors to understand how a company's operations are 

running, where its money is coming from, and how money is being spent. The CFS 

also provides insight as to whether a company is on a solid financial footing. 

There is no formula, per se, for calculating a cash flow statement. Instead, it 

contains three sections that report cash flow for the various activities for which a 

company uses its cash. Those three components of the CFS are listed below. 

Operating Activities  

The operating activities on the CFS include any sources and uses of cash from 

running the business and selling its products or services. Cash from operations 

includes any changes made in cash accounts receivable, depreciation, inventory, 

and accounts payable. These transactions also include wages, income tax payments, 

interest payments, rent, and cash receipts from the sale of a product or service. 

Investing Activities 

Investing activities include any sources and uses of cash from a company's 

investments in the long-term future of the company. A purchase or sale of an asset, 

loans made to vendors or received from customers, or any payments related to a 

merger or acquisition is included in this category. 

Also, purchases of fixed assets such as property, plant, and equipment (PPE) 

are included in this section. In short, changes in equipment, assets, or investments 

relate to cash from investing. 

Financing Activities 

Cash from financing activities includes the sources of cash from investors or 

banks, as well as the uses of cash paid to shareholders. Financing activities include 

debt issuance, equity issuance, stock repurchases, loans, dividends paid, and 

repayments of debt. 

The cash flow statement reconciles the income statement with the balance sheet 

in three major business activities. 

Example of a Cash Flow Statement 

Below is a portion of ExxonMobil Corporation's cash flow statement for fiscal-

year 2021, reported as of Dec. 31, 2021. We can see the three areas of the cash flow 

statement and their results. 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/i/incomestatement.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/c/cash-flow-from-operating-activities.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/a/accountspayable.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/c/cashflowfinvestingactivities.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/c/cashflowfromfinancing.asp
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 Operating activities generated a positive cash flow of $48 billion. 

 Investing activities generated negative cash flow or cash outflows of -

$10.2 billion for the period. Additions to property, plant, and equipment made up the 

majority of cash outflows, which means the company invested in new fixed assets. 

 Financing activities generated negative cash flow or cash outflows of -

$35.4 billion for the period. Reductions in short-term debt and dividends paid out made 

up the majority of the cash outflows.3 
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Understanding the Cash Flow Statement 

The cash flow statement (CFS), is a financial statement that summarizes the 

movement of cash and cash equivalents (CCE) that come in and go out of a company. 

The CFS measures how well a company manages its cash position, meaning how well 

the company generates cash to pay its debt obligations and fund its operating 

expenses. As one of the three main financial statements, the CFS complements the 

balance sheet and the income statement. In this article, we’ll show you how the CFS is 

structured and how you can use it when analyzing a company. 

REMEMBER: 

  A cash flow statement summarizes the amount of cash and cash 

equivalents entering and leaving a company.  

 The CFS highlights a company's cash management, including how well it 

generates cash.  

 This financial statement complements the balance sheet and the income 

statement.  

 The main components of the CFS are cash from three areas: Operating 

activities, investing activities, and financing activities. 

How the Cash Flow Statement Is Used 

The cash flow statement paints a picture as to how a company’s operations are 

running, where its money comes from, and how money is being spent. Also known as 

the statement of cash flows, the CFS helps its creditors determine how much cash is 

available (referred to as liquidity) for the company to fund its operating expenses and 

pay down its debts. The CFS is equally important to investors because it tells them 

whether a company is on solid financial ground. As such, they can use the statement to 

make better, more informed decisions about their investments. 

Structure of the Cash Flow Statement 

The main components of the cash flow statement are: 

1. Cash flow from operating activities 

2. Cash flow from investing activities 

3. Cash flow from financing activities 

4. Disclosure of non-cash activities, which is sometimes included when 

prepared under generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).1 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/c/cashflowstatement.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/c/cashandcashequivalents.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/c/creditor.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/l/liquidity.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/c/cash-flow-from-operating-activities.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/c/cashflowfinvestingactivities.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/c/cashflowfromfinancing.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/g/gaap.asp
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Cash from Operating Activities 

The operating activities on the CFS include any sources and uses of cash from 

business activities. In other words, it reflects how much cash is generated from a 

company’s products or services. 

These operating activities might include: 

 Receipts from sales of goods and services 

 Interest payments 

 Income tax payments 

 Payments made to suppliers of goods and services used in production 

 Salary and wage payments to employees 

 Rent payments 

 Any other type of operating expenses 

In the case of a trading portfolio or an investment company, receipts from the 

sale of loans, debt, or equity instruments are also included because it is a business 

activity. 

  

Changes made in cash, accounts receivable, depreciation, inventory, and 

accounts payable are generally reflected in cash from operations. 

Cash from Investing Activities 

Investing activities include any sources and uses of cash from a company’s 

investments. Purchases or sales of assets, loans made to vendors or received from 

customers, or any payments related to mergers and acquisitions (M&A) are included in 

this category. In short, changes in equipment, assets, or investments relate to cash 

from investing. 

Changes in cash from investing are usually considered cash-out items because 

cash is used to buy new equipment, buildings, or short-term assets such as marketable 

securities. But when a company divests an asset, the transaction is considered cash-in 

for calculating cash from investing. 

Cash from Financing Activities 

Cash from financing activities includes the sources of cash from investors and 

banks, as well as the way cash is paid to shareholders. This includes any dividends, 

payments for stock repurchases, and repayment of debt principal (loans) that are made 

by the company. 

Changes in cash from financing are cash-in when capital is raised and cash-out 

when dividends are paid. Thus, if a company issues a bond to the public, the company 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/o/operatingcashflow.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/ask/answers/070915/how-do-you-calculate-company-equity.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/articles/financial-theory/11/cash-flow-from-investing.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/m/mergersandacquisitions.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/s/sharerepurchase.asp
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receives cash financing. However, when interest is paid to bondholders, the company 

is reducing its cash. And remember, although interest is a cash-out expense, it is 

reported as an operating activity—not a financing activity. 

How Cash Flow Is Calculated 

There are two methods of calculating cash flow: the direct method and the 

indirect method. 

Direct Cash Flow Method 

The direct method adds up all of the cash payments and receipts, including cash 

paid to suppliers, cash receipts from customers, and cash paid out in salaries. This 

method of CFS is easier for very small businesses that use the cash basis accounting 

method. 

These figures can also be calculated by using the beginning and ending 

balances of a variety of asset and liability accounts and examining the net decrease or 

increase in the accounts. It is presented in a straightforward manner. 

Most companies use the accrual basis accounting method. In these cases, 

revenue is recognized when it is earned rather than when it is received. This causes a 

disconnect between net income and actual cash flow because not all transactions in 

net income on the income statement involve actual cash items. Therefore, certain 

items must be reevaluated when calculating cash flow from operations. 

Indirect Cash Flow Method 

With the indirect method, cash flow is calculated by adjusting net income by 

adding or subtracting differences resulting from non-cash transactions. Non-cash items 

show up in the changes to a company’s assets and liabilities on the balance sheet from 

one period to the next. Therefore, the accountant will identify any increases and 

decreases to asset and liability accounts that need to be added back to or removed 

from the net income figure, in order to identify an accurate cash inflow or outflow. 

Changes in accounts receivable (AR) on the balance sheet from one accounting 

period to the next must be reflected in cash flow: 

 If AR decreases, more cash may have entered the company from 

customers paying off their credit accounts—the amount by which AR has decreased is 

then added to net earnings. 

 An increase in AR must be deducted from net earnings because, although 

the amounts represented in AR are in revenue, they are not cash. 

What about changes in a company's inventory? Here's how they are accounted 

for on the CFS: 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/b/bondholder.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/d/direct_method.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/c/cashbasis.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/l/liability.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/a/accrualaccounting.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/i/indirect_method.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/a/accountsreceivable.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/a/accountingperiod.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/a/accountingperiod.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/i/inventory.asp
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 An increase in inventory signals that a company spent more money on 

raw materials. Using cash means the increase in the inventory's value is deducted from 

net earnings. 

 A decrease in inventory would be added to net earnings. Credit 

purchases are reflected by an increase in accounts payable on the balance sheet, and 

the amount of the increase from one year to the next is added to net earnings. 

The same logic holds true for taxes payable, salaries, and prepaid insurance. If 

something has been paid off, then the difference in the value owed from one year to 

the next has to be subtracted from net income. If there is an amount that is still owed, 

then any differences will have to be added to net earnings. 

Limitations of the Cash Flow Statement 

Negative cash flow should not automatically raise a red flag without further 

analysis. Poor cash flow is sometimes the result of a company’s decision to expand its 

business at a certain point in time, which would be a good thing for the future. 

Analyzing changes in cash flow from one period to the next gives the investor a 

better idea of how the company is performing, and whether a company may be on the 

brink of bankruptcy or success. The CFS should also be considered in unison with the 

other two financial statements (see below). 

The indirect cash flow method allows for a reconciliation between two other 

financial statements: the income statement and balance sheet. 

Cash Flow Statement vs. Income Statement vs. Balance Sheet 

The cash flow statement measures the performance of a company over a period 

of time. But it is not as easily manipulated by the timing of non-cash transactions. As 

noted above, the CFS can be derived from the income statement and the balance 

sheet. Net earnings from the income statement are the figure from which the 

information on the CFS is deduced. But they only factor into determining the operating 

activities section of the CFS. As such, net earnings have nothing to do with the 

investing or financial activities sections of the CFS. 

The income statement includes depreciation expense, which doesn't actually 

have an associated cash outflow. It is simply an allocation of the cost of an asset over 

its useful life. A company has some leeway to choose its depreciation method, which 

modifies the depreciation expense reported on the income statement. The CFS, on the 

other hand, is a measure of true inflows and outflows that cannot be as easily 

manipulated. 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/p/prepaid-insurance.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/r/redflag.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/b/bankruptcy.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/i/incomestatement.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/b/balancesheet.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/b/balancesheet.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/d/depreciation.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/ask/answers/021815/what-are-different-ways-calculate-depreciation.asp
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As for the balance sheet, the net cash flow reported on the CFS should equal 

the net change in the various line items reported on the balance sheet. This excludes 

cash and cash equivalents and non-cash accounts, such as accumulated depreciation 

and accumulated amortization. For example, if you calculate cash flow for 2019, make 

sure you use 2018 and 2019 balance sheets. 

 The CFS is distinct from the income statement and the balance sheet because 

it does not include the amount of future incoming and outgoing cash that has been 

recorded as revenues and expenses. Therefore, cash is not the same as net income, 

which includes cash sales as well as sales made on credit on the income statements. 

Example of a Cash Flow Statement 

Below is an example of a cash flow 

statement:  

From this CFS, we can see that the net cash flow for the 2017 fiscal year was 

$1,522,000. The bulk of the positive cash flow stems from cash earned from 

operations, which is a good sign for investors. It means that core operations are 

generating business and that there is enough money to buy new inventory. 

The purchasing of new equipment shows that the company has the cash to 

invest in itself. Finally, the amount of cash available to the company should ease 

investors’ minds regarding the notes payable, as cash is plentiful to cover that future 

loan expense. 

What Is the Difference Between Direct and Indirect Cash Flow Statements? 

The difference lies in how the cash inflows and outflows are determined. 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/n/netincome.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/f/fiscalyear.asp
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Using the direct method, actual cash inflows and outflows are known amounts. 

The cash flow statement is reported in a straightforward manner, using cash payments 

and receipts. 

Using the indirect method, actual cash inflows and outflows do not have to be 

known. The indirect method begins with net income or loss from the income statement, 

then modifies the figure using balance sheet account increases and decreases, to 

compute implicit cash inflows and outflows. 

Is the Indirect Method of the Cash Flow Statement Better Than the Direct 

Method? 

Neither is necessarily better or worse. However, the indirect method also 

provides a means of reconciling items on the balance sheet to the net income on the 

income statement. As an accountant prepares the CFS using the indirect method, they 

can identify increases and decreases in the balance sheet that are the result of non-

cash transactions. 

It is useful to see the impact and relationship that accounts on the balance sheet 

have to the net income on the income statement, and it can provide a better 

understanding of the financial statements as a whole. 

What Is Included in Cash and Cash Equivalents? 

Cash and cash equivalents are consolidated into a single line item on a 

company's balance sheet. It reports the value of a business’s assets that are currently 

cash or can be converted into cash within a short period of time, commonly 90 

days. Cash and cash equivalents include currency, petty cash, bank accounts, and 

other highly liquid, short-term investments. Examples of cash equivalents include 

commercial paper, Treasury bills, and short-term government bonds with a maturity of 

three months or less. 

The Bottom Line 

A cash flow statement is a valuable measure of strength, profitability, and the 

long-term future outlook of a company. The CFS can help determine whether a 

company has enough liquidity or cash to pay its expenses. A company can use a CFS 

to predict future cash flow, which helps with budgeting matters. 

For investors, the CFS reflects a company’s financial health, since typically the 

more cash that’s available for business operations, the better. However, this is not a 

rigid rule. Sometimes, a negative cash flow results from a company’s growth strategy in 

the form of expanding its operations. 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/f/financial-health.asp
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By studying the CFS, an investor can get a clear picture of how much cash a 

company generates and gain a solid understanding of the financial well-being of 

a company. 

 

Statement of Changes in Shareholder Equity 

The statement of changes in equity tracks total equity over time. This 

information ties back to a balance sheet for a same period; the ending balance on the 

change of equity statement is equal to the total equity reported on the balance sheet. 

The formula for changes to shareholder equity will vary from company to 

company; in general, there are a couple of components: 

 Beginning equity: this is the equity at the end of the last period that simply 

rolls to the start of the next period. 

 (+) Net income: this is the amount of income the company earned in a 

given period. The proceeds from operations are automatically recognized as equity in 

the company, and this income is rolled into retained earnings at year-end. 

 (-) Dividends: this is the amount of money that is paid out to shareholders 

from profits. Instead of keeping all of a company's profits, the company may choose to 

give some profits away to investors. 

 (+/-) Other comprehensive income: this is the period-over-period change 

in other comprehensive income. Depending on transactions, this figure may be an 

addition or subtraction from equity. 

In ExxonMobil's statement of changes in equity, the company also records 

activity for acquisitions, dispositions, amortization of stock-based awards, and other 

financial activity. This information is useful to analyze to determine how much money is 

being retained by the company for future growth as opposed to being distributed 

externally. 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/c/comprehensiveincome.asp
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, ExxonMobil (2021). 

Statement of Comprehensive Income 

An often less utilized financial statement, a statement of comprehensive income 

summarizes standard net income while also incorporating changes in other 

comprehensive income (OCI). Other comprehensive income includes all unrealized 

gains and losses that are not reported on the income statement. This financial 

statement shows a company's total change income, even gains and losses that have 

yet to be recorded in accordance to accounting rules. 

Examples of transactions that are reporting on the statement of comprehensive 

income include: 

 Net income (from the statement of income). 

 Unrealized gains or losses from debt securities 

 Unrealized gains or losses from derivative instruments 

 Unrealized translation adjustments due to foreign currency 

 Unrealized gains or losses from retirement programs 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/u/unrealizedgain.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/u/unrealizedgain.asp


89 
 

In the example below, ExxonMobil has over $2 billion of net unrecognized 

income. Instead of reporting just $23.5 billion of net income, ExxonMobil reports nearly 

$26 billion of total income when considering other comprehensive income. 

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, Exxon Mobil 2021. 

Nonprofit Financial Statements 

Nonprofit organizations record financial transactions across a similar set of 

financial statements. However, due to the differences between a for-profit entity and a 

purely philanthropic entity, there are differences in the financial statements used. The 

standard set of financial statements used for a nonprofit entity include: 

 Statement of Financial Position: this is the equivalent of a for-profit entity's 

balance sheet. The largest difference is nonprofit entities do not have equity positions; 

any residual balances after all assets have been liquidated and liabilities have been 

satisfied is called 'net assets'. 

 Statement of Activities: this is the equivalent of a for-profit entity's 

statement of income. This report tracks the changes in operation over time including 

the reporting of donations, grants, event revenue, and expenses to make everything 

happen. 

 Statement of Functional Expenses: this is specific to non-profit entities. 

The statement of functional expenses reports expenses by entity function (often broken 

into administrative, program, or fundraising expenses). This information is distributed to 

the public to explain what proportion of company-wide expenses are related directly to 

the mission. 

 Statement of Cash Flow: this is the equivalent of a for-profit entity's 

statement of cash flow. Though the accounts listed may vary due to the different nature 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/n/non-profitorganization.asp


90 
 

of a nonprofit organization, the statement is still divided into operating, investing, and 

financing activities. 

The purpose of an external auditor is to assess whether an entity's financial 

statement have been prepared in accordance with prevailing accounting rules and 

whether there are any material misstatements impacting the validity of results. 

Limitations of Financial Statements 

Although financial statements provide a wealth of information on a company, 

they do have limitations. The statements are open to interpretation, and as a result, 

investors often draw vastly different conclusions about a company's financial 

performance. 

For example, some investors might want stock repurchases while other 

investors might prefer to see that money invested in long-term assets. A company's 

debt level might be fine for one investor while another might have concerns about the 

level of debt for the company. 

When analyzing financial statements, it's important to compare multiple periods 

to determine if there are any trends as well as compare the company's results to its 

peers in the same industry. 

Last, financial statements are only as reliable as the information being fed into 

the reports. Too often, its been documented that fraudulent financial activity or poor 

control oversight have led to misstated financial statements intended to mislead users. 

Even when analyzing audited financial statements, there is a level of trust that users 

must place into the validity of the report and the figures being shown. 

What Are the Main Types of Financial Statements? 

The three main types financial statements are the balance sheet, the income 

statement, and the cash flow statement. These three statements together show the 

assets and liabilities of a business, its revenues and costs, as well as its cash flows 

from operating, investing, and financing activities. 

What Are the Main Items Shown in Financial Statements? 

Depending on the corporation, the line items in a financial statement will differ; 

however, the most common line items are revenues, costs of goods sold, taxes, cash, 

marketable securities, inventory, short-term debt, long-term debt, accounts receivable, 

accounts payable, and cash flows from investing, operating, and financing activities. 

What Are the Benefits of Financial Statements? 

Financial statements show how a business operates. It provides insight into how 

much and how a business generates revenues, what the cost of doing business is, how 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/s/sharerepurchase.asp
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efficiently it manages its cash, and what its assets and liabilities are. Financial 

statements provide all the detail on how well or poorly a company manages itself. 

How Do You Read Financial Statements? 

Financial statements are read in several different ways. First, financial 

statements can be compared to prior periods to better understand changes over time. 

For example, comparative income statements report what a company's income was 

last year and what a company's income is this year. Noting the year-over-year change 

informs users of the financial statements of a company's health. 

Financial statements are also read by comparing the results to competitors or 

other industry participants. By comparing financial statements to other companies, 

analysts can get a better sense on which companies are performing the best and which 

are lagging the rest of the industry. 

What Is GAAP? 

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) is the set of rules in which 

United States companies must prepare their financial statements. It is the guidelines 

that explain how to record transactions, when to recognize revenue, and when 

expenses must be recognized. International companies may use a similar but different 

set of rules called International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

The Bottom Line 

Financial statements are the ticket to external evaluation of a company's 

financial performance. The balance sheet reports a company's financial health through 

its liquidity and solvency, while the income statement reports a company's profitability. 

A statement of cash flow tie these two together by tracking sources and uses of cash. 

Together, financial statements communicate how a company is doing over time and 

against its competitors. 

Why do we need 3 types of financial statements? 

The balance sheet, income statement, and cash flow statement each offer unique 

details with information that is all interconnected. Together the three statements give a 

comprehensive portrayal of the company's operating activities 

The Three Major Financial Statements: How They're Interconnected 

The information found on the financial statements of an organization is the 

foundation of corporate accounting. This data is reviewed by management, investors, 

and lenders for the purpose of assessing the company's financial position. 

Data found in the balance sheet, the income statement, and the cash flow 

statement is used to calculate important financial ratios that provide insight on the 

https://www.investopedia.com/ask/answers/06/compiledandcertifiedfinancialstatements.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/a/accounting.asp
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company’s financial performance and potential issues that may need to be addressed. 

The balance sheet, income statement, and cash flow statement each offer unique 

details with information that is all interconnected. Together the three statements give a 

comprehensive portrayal of the company’s operating activities. 

REMEMBER: 

  The information found on the financial statements of an organization is 

the foundation of corporate accounting. 

 Also referred to as the statement of financial position, a 

company's balance sheet provides information on what the company is worth from a 

book value perspective. 

 A company's income statement provides details on the revenue a 

company earns and the expenses involved in its operating activities. 

 The cash flow statement provides a view of a company’s overall liquidity 

by showing cash transaction activities. 

The Balance Sheet 

Also referred to as the statement of financial position, a company's balance 

sheet provides information on what the company is worth from a book value 

perspective. The balance sheet is broken into three categories and provides 

summations of the company's assets, liabilities, and shareholders' equity on a specific 

date. 

Generally, a comprehensive analysis of the balance sheet can offer several 

quick views. In order for the balance sheet to ‘balance,’ assets must equal liabilities 

plus equity. Analysts view the assets minus liabilities as the book value or equity of the 

firm. In some instances, analysts may also look at the total capital of the firm which 

analyzes liabilities and equity together. In the asset portion of the balance sheet, 

analysts will typically be looking at long-term assets and how efficiently a company 

manages its receivables in the short term. 

There are a variety of ratios analysts use to gauge the efficiency of a company’s 

balance sheet. Some of the most common include asset turnover, the quick ratio, 

receivables turnover, days to sales, debt to assets, and debt to equity. 

The Income Statement 

A company's income statement provides details on the revenue a company 

earns and the expenses involved in its operating activities. Overall, it provides more 

granular detail on the holistic operating activities of a company. Broadly, the income 

statement shows the direct, indirect, and capital expenses a company incurs. 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/b/balancesheet.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/b/balancesheet.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/i/incomestatement.asp
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Starting with direct, the top line reports the level of revenue a company earned 

over a specific time frame. It then shows the expenses directly related to earning that 

revenue. Direct expenses are generally grouped into cost of goods sold or cost of 

sales, which represents direct wholesale costs. Costs of sales are subtracted from 

revenue to arrive at gross profit. Gross profit is then often analyzed in comparison to 

total sales to identify a company’s gross profit margin. 

Indirect expenses are also an important part of the income statement. Indirect 

expenses form a second category and show all costs indirectly associated with the 

revenue-generating activities of a firm. These costs can include salaries, general and 

administrative expenses, research and development, and depreciation and 

amortization. Together these indirect expenses are subtracted from gross profit to 

identify operating income. 

The final category on the income statement factors in capital expenses. The last 

expenses to be considered here include interest, tax, and extraordinary items. The 

subtraction of these items results in the bottom line net income or the total amount of 

earnings a company has achieved. 

Offering a great deal of transparency on the company’s operating activities, the 

income statement is also a key driver of the company’s other two financial statements. 

Net income at the end of a period becomes part of the company’s stockholders' equity 

as retained earnings. Net income is also carried over to the cash flow statement where 

it serves as the top line item for operating activities. Sales booked during the period are 

also added to the company’s short-term assets as accounts receivable. 

On the income statement, analysts will typically be looking at a company’s 

profitability. Therefore, key ratios used for analyzing the income statement include 

gross margin, operating margin, and net margin as well as tax ratio efficiency and 

interest coverage. 

The Cash Flow Statement 

The cash flow statement provides a view of a company’s overall liquidity by 

showing cash transaction activities. It reports all cash inflows and outflows over the 

course of an accounting period with a summation of the total cash available. 

Standard cash flow statements will be broken into three parts: operating, 

investing, and financing. This financial statement highlights the net increase and 

decrease in total cash in each of these three areas. 

The operating portion shows cash received from making sales as part of the 

company's operations during that period. It also shows the operating cash outflows that 

https://www.investopedia.com/terms/c/cogs.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/investing/what-is-a-cash-flow-statement/
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were spent to make those sales. For example, the cash paid for rent, salaries, and 

administration. 

The other two portions of the cash flow statement, investing and financing, are 

closely tied with the capital planning for the firm which is interconnected with the 

liabilities and equity on the balance sheet. Investing cash activities primarily focus on 

assets and show asset purchases and gains from invested assets. The financing cash 

activities focus on capital structure financing, showing proceeds from debt and stock 

issuance as well as cash payments for obligations such as interest and dividends. 

A Comprehensive View 

All three accounting statements are important for understanding and analyzing a 

company’s performance from multiple angles. The income statement provides deep 

insight into the core operating activities that generate earnings for the firm. The 

balance sheet and cash flow statement, however, focus more on the capital 

management of the firm in terms of both assets and structure. 

Overall, top-performing companies will achieve high marks in operating 

efficiency, asset management, and capital structuring. Management is responsible for 

overseeing these three levers in a way that serves the best interest of the 

shareholders, and the interconnected reporting of these levers is what makes financial 

statement reporting so important. 

. The most common types of financial analysis are vertical analysis, horizontal 

analysis, leverage analysis, growth rates, profitability analysis, liquidity analysis, 

efficiency analysis, cash flow, rates of return, valuation analysis, scenario and sensitivity 

analysis, and variance analysis. 

What is vertical analysis of financial statements? 

Vertical analysis is a method of financial statement analysis in which each line 

item is listed as a percentage of a base figure within the statement. In accounting, a 

vertical analysis is used to show the relative sizes of the different accounts on a 

financial statement. For example, when a vertical analysis is done on an income 

statement, it will show the top-line sales number as 100%, and every other account will 

show as a percentage of the total sales number 

Whereas vertical analysis analyzes a particular financial statement using only 

one base financial statement of the reporting period, horizontal analysis compares a 

specific financial statement with other periods or the cross-sectional analysis of a 

company against another company 

What is horizontal analysis of financial statements? 

https://www.investopedia.com/ask/answers/032615/why-do-shareholders-need-financial-statements.asp
https://www.investopedia.com/ask/answers/032615/why-do-shareholders-need-financial-statements.asp
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Horizontal analysis is used in the review of a company's financial statements 

over multiple periods. It is usually depicted as percentage growth over the same line 

item in the base year. Horizontal analysis allows financial statement users to easily spot 

trends and growth patterns. 

 Why is it important to use both vertical and horizontal analysis when analyzing 

financial statements? 

The horizontal and vertical analysis are other components of financial statement 

analysis aside from the normal profitability and liquidity ratios. The horizontal analysis 

helps the company is comparing the balance sheet, and the income statement results 

from one period to another, by setting a base year. 

What is the difference between vertical and horizontal analysis? 

Given these descriptions, the main difference between vertical analysis and 

horizontal analysis is that vertical analysis is focused on the relationships between the 

numbers in a single reporting period, while horizontal analysis spans multiple reporting 

periods. 

What is vertical analysis of financial statements? 

Vertical analysis is a method of financial statement analysis in which each line 

item is listed as a percentage of a base figure within the statement. 

Whereas vertical analysis analyzes a particular financial statement using only 

one base financial statement of the reporting period, horizontal analysis compares a 

specific financial statement with other periods or the cross-sectional analysis of a 

company against another company.  

What is the purpose of horizontal and vertical analysis? 

The primary aim of horizontal analysis is to keep a track on the behaviour of the 

individual items of the financial statement over the years. Conversely, the vertical 

analysis aims at showing an insight into the relative importance or proportion of various 

items on a particular year's financial statement. 

In the vertical analysis of financial statements, the percentage is calculated by 

using the below formula: 

1. Vertical Analysis formula = Individual Item / Base Amount *100. 

2. Vertical Analysis Formula(Income Statement) = Income Statement Item / 

Total Sales * 100. 

There are several techniques used by analysts to develop a fair understanding of 

a company's financial performance over a period. The three most commonly practised 
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methods of financial analysis are – horizontal analysis, vertical analysis, and ratio and 

trend analysis.  

Vertical analysis simplifies the correlation between single items on a balance 

sheet and the bottom line, as they are expressed in a percentage. A company's 

management can use the percentages to set goals and threshold limits. How do you 

perform a horizontal analysis of financial statements? 

How to perform Horizontal Analysis? 

1. Select Time Periods. First, decide which periods you will be comparing, 

carefully choosing comparable periods. ... 

2. Gather Data. The next step is to identify the data you need. ... 

3. Calculate the Percentage Change. ... 

4. Analyze & Compare Results. 

How do you analyze vertical analysis on a balance sheet? 

When you conduct vertical analysis, you analyze each line on a financial 

statement as a percentage of another line. Vertical analysis is therefore a proportional 

analysis method. On an income statement you conduct vertical analysis by converting 

each line into a percentage of gross revenue. 

What is horizontal analysis used for? 

Horizontal analysis is a process used in financial statements such as comparing 

line items across several years for the purpose of tracking the firms progress and 

historical performance. In other words, analysts use this type of analysis to compare 

performance metrics or accounts over a given period. 

Which tool is used in horizontal analysis? 

Answer. Trend Analysis: It is an important tool of horizontal analysis. Under this 

analysis, ratios of different items of the financial statements for various periods are 

calculated and the comparison is made accordingly.  

How do you write a horizontal analysis? 

Horizontal Analysis (%) = [(Amount in Comparison Year – Amount in Base Year) 

/ Amount in Base Year] * 100 

1. The overall growth has been relatively higher in the year 2018 compared 

to that of the year 2017. ... 

2. Further, it is also noticed that the operating income moves in tandem with 

the revenue growth, which is a good sign. 

What are the four tools for financial analysis? 

 #1 – Common Size Statements. 
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 #2 – Comparative Financial Statement. 

 #3 – Ratio Analysis. 

 #4 – Benchmarking. 

What is the other name for vertical analysis? 

Vertical analysis, also known as common-size analysis, is used to evaluate a 

firm's financial statement data within an accounting period. This tool uses one line item 

on the statement as a base against which to evaluate all other items in the same 

statement.   

What are the 5 components of financial analysis? 

5 Key Elements of a Financial Analysis 

Revenues. Revenues are probably your business's main source of cash. ... 

Profits. If you can't produce quality profits consistently, your business may not 

survive in the long run. ... 

Operational Efficiency. ... 

Capital Efficiency and Solvency. ... 

Liquidity. 

 

6 Steps to an Effective Financial Statement AnalysisThere are generally six 

steps to developing an effective analysis of financial statements. 

1. Identify the industry economic characteristics. ... 

2. Identify company strategies. ... 

3. Assess the quality of the firm's financial statements. ... 

4. Analyze current profitability and risk. ... 

5. Prepare forecasted financial statements. ... 

6. Value the firm. 

For any financial professional, it is important to know how to effectively analyze 

the financial statements of a firm. 

 This requires an understanding of three key areas: 

1. The structure of the financial statements 

2. The economic characteristics of the industry in which the firm operates 

and 

3. The strategies the firm pursues to differentiate itself from its competitors. 

There are generally six steps to developing an effective analysis of financial 

statements. 

https://www.afponline.org/ideas-inspiration/topics/articles/Details/6-steps-to-an-effective-financial-statement-analysis
https://www.afponline.org/ideas-inspiration/topics/articles/Details/6-steps-to-an-effective-financial-statement-analysis
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https://www.afponline.org/ideas-inspiration/topics/articles/Details/6-steps-to-an-effective-financial-statement-analysis
https://www.afponline.org/ideas-inspiration/topics/articles/Details/6-steps-to-an-effective-financial-statement-analysis
https://www.afponline.org/ideas-inspiration/topics/articles/Details/6-steps-to-an-effective-financial-statement-analysis
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1. IDENTIFY THE INDUSTRY ECONOMIC CHARACTERISTICS. 

First, determine a value chain analysis for the industry—the chain of activities 

involved in the creation, manufacture and distribution of the firm’s products and/or 

services. Techniques such as Porter’s Five Forces or analysis of economic attributes 

are typically used in this step. 

2. IDENTIFY COMPANY STRATEGIES. 

Next, look at the nature of the product/service being offered by the firm, including 

the uniqueness of product, level of profit margins, creation of brand loyalty and control 

of costs. Additionally, factors such as supply chain integration, geographic 

diversification and industry diversification should be considered. 

3. ASSESS THE QUALITY OF THE FIRM’S FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. 

Review the key financial statements within the context of the relevant accounting 

standards. In examining balance sheet accounts, issues such as recognition, valuation 

and classification are keys to proper evaluation. The main question should be whether 

this balance sheet is a complete representation of the firm’s economic position. When 

evaluating the income statement, the main point is to properly assess the quality of 

earnings as a complete representation of the firm’s economic performance. Evaluation 

of the statement of cash flows helps in understanding the impact of the firm’s liquidity 

position from its operations, investments and financial activities over the period—in 

essence, where funds came from, where they went, and how the overall liquidity of the 

firm was affected. 

4. ANALYZE CURRENT PROFITABILITY AND RISK. 

This is the step where financial professionals can really add value in the 

evaluation of the firm and its financial statements. The most common analysis tools are 

key financial statement ratios relating to liquidity, asset management, profitability, debt 

management/coverage and risk/market valuation. With respect to profitability, there are 

two broad questions to be asked: how profitable are the operations of the firm relative to 

its assets—independent of how the firm finances those assets—and how profitable is 

the firm from the perspective of the equity shareholders. It is also important to learn how 

to disaggregate return measures into primary impact factors. Lastly, it is critical to 

analyze any financial statement ratios in a comparative manner, looking at the current 

ratios in relation to those from earlier periods or relative to other firms or industry 

averages. 
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5. PREPARE FORECASTED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. 

Although often challenging, financial professionals must make reasonable 

assumptions about the future of the firm (and its industry) and determine how these 

assumptions will impact both the cash flows and the funding. This often takes the form 

of pro-forma financial statements, based on techniques such as the percent of sales 

approach. 

6. VALUE THE FIRM. 

While there are many valuation approaches, the most common is a type of 

discounted cash flow methodology. These cash flows could be in the form of projected 

dividends, or more detailed techniques such as free cash flows to either the equity 

holders or on enterprise basis. Other approaches may include using relative valuation or 

accounting-based measures such as economic value added. 

THE NEXT STEPS 

Once the analysis of the firm and its financial statements are completed, there 

are further questions that must be answered. One of the most critical is: “Can we really 

trust the numbers that are being provided?” There are many reported instances of 

accounting irregularities. Whether it is called aggressive accounting, earnings 

management, or outright fraudulent financial reporting, it is important for the financial 

professional to understand how these types of manipulations are perpetrated and more 

importantly, how to detect them. 
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